ETC ARCHITECTURAL

Light Manager 1.65 Unison Lighting Control System

User Guide



Unison Light Manager Manual version 1.65

Software License Agreement

Software Copyright © 2000, Electronic Theatre Controls, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Before using the equipment, please carefully read the software license provisions below. If you do not agree with the provisions, promptly return the equipment to ETC, Inc. and your money will be refunded.

(a) Purchaser is granted a personal, non-exclusive license to use the software soley to operate the equipment for its intended purpose in a single, permanent installation at the Purchaser's place of use. the Software License continues until Purchaser ceases to use the equipment or transfers the equipment to another party, at which point the license shall be automatically transferred to the new owner, subject to the terms of this license.

(b) Purchaser is authorized to execute the code embodied in the software to enable the equipment to perform according to specifications.

(c) Purchaser agrees that it will not use or copy the software, copies of the software, or any code in the software except as expressly authorized in this License and will not modify, merge, disassemble or decompile the software copies thereof, or any code in the software, nor remove any notices or license terms from the equipment or documentation. Information necessary to achieve interoperability of the equipment with other programs is available from ETC, Inc. on request.

(d) Upon the resale of the equipment, the Software License is automatically transferred to the subsequent purchaser, provided the subsequent purchaser agrees to accept the terms of the Software License. Purchaser agrees that it will not sublicense, rent, or assign the software.

(e) All additional software supplied in the form of updates or incorporated in replacement IRIDEON® hardware shall be subject to the terms of the Software License.

Contents

Chapter 1
Introduction
What is Light Manager? 5
Computer requirements 5
Manual conventions 5
Chapter 2
Installing Light Manager Software
Chapter 3
Basic Programming
Understanding the display 10
Configuring a system
Changing system properties
To modify room properties
To modify station properties
To modify preset properties
To modify zone properties
To modify section properties
To modify wall properties
Programming control stations
To customize Fader and Preset recall stations 26
To record a Preset
LCD stations
Connector stations 45
Contact/Fader Interface stations
IR stations
Programming Rooms with Moving Partitions
Programming Macro sequences
Programming Astronomical time clock events
Saving, loading and transferring configurations
Printing configurations 73

Chapter 4 Advanced System Programming

Lockout values
Visibility levels
Preset priorities
Zone properties
Station Templates
Cross-station control
Advanced LCD features
DMX input macros
Access - Securing Light Manager configurations 88

Chapter 5

Understanding Network Systems

Setting up a Networked Unison configuration
To set processor network addresses
Advanced network settings
To set PC network addresses
Writing network configurations
Transferring configurations 103
Working with network configurations 103
Setting and recording zone levels in Live Control 104

Chapter 6

Glossary		 		•		• •	 •	•	 •	•	 	•	•	 		•		10	5
Index		 									 		•	 				10	9

Chapter 1 Introduction

What is Light Manager?

Unison Light Manager is a unique software program designed to simplify the setup and operation of Unison lighting control systems. Light Manager is used to configure simple, one-room control systems as well as large networked, multi-processor systems. Light Manager uses standard Microsoft Windows® point and click conventions for easy programming. Configuration and Room Wizards lead you through initial programming while sophisticated electronic security protects the system from unauthorized use. Light Manager helps you manage your lighting needs.



Note: Only authorized personnel should be permitted access to the lighting system configuration.

Computer requirements

Light Manager requires a minimum of a Pentium 90 PC computer with a minimum of 16MB of RAM, 5MB of free hard drive space, and a VGA monitor. Light Manager requires the Windows®95 or Windows®98 operating system.



Note: Your screen resolution should be set to 800X600 or greater.

To successfully operate the Unison Light Manager program you should know how to use Windows. This manual assumes that you have a basic knowledge of Windows operation.

Manual conventions

When referencing keys and/or buttons on a control station, the text will be in square brackets, such as [Record]. Messages or text that appears on displays is printed in boldface, such as **Add Custom Page**. References to other sections of the manual are printed in italics, such as *Chapter 1, Installation*.



Note: Indicates special applications or points of interest.

Chapter 2 Installing Light Manager software

To use Light Manager, you must install Light Manager software on your computer.

To install Light Manager

- 1. Insert the Unison Light Manager 3.5-inch diskette into your disk drive.
- 2. From the Windows Explorer, find the **Setupex.exe** file on the A: drive. Double click on the **Setupex.exe** file. Light Manager verifies that you wish to install the program.
- 3. Click [Yes]. Light Manager begins the Install Wizard which will guide you through the setup process. When you finish, the **Welcome** screen will appear.
- 4. Click [Next]. Light Manager displays the **Choose Destination** screen. Click [Back] to return to the previous screen. Click [Cancel] to stop the installation process.
- 5. To install Light Manager in the default directory, click [Next]. Light Manager displays the **Select Folder** screen.

or...

To install Light Manager in an alternate directory, click [Browse] and enter the desired directory path. This is recommended if you have more than one version of Light Manager installed on your computer.

- 6. Click [Next]. Light Manager displays the **Select Folder** screen. Unison Light Manager is the default folder option. You may also enter a new folder name or select one from the existing folder list.
- 7. Installation takes about a minute. Once setup is complete, you will need to restart your computer.
- 8. Select either [Yes, I want to restart my computer now] or [No, I will restart my computer later] and click [Finish].
- 9. Light Manager will ask if you wish to launch the program. Click the [Launch] field and click [Finish]



Note: If you are using Light Manager and Sensor ETCLink Utilities (EELoad), you will need to edit the config.sys file on your computer. These programs will not operate at the same time.

If you are using Light Manager, "rem" the "linkutil" line in the file.

If you are using ETCLink Utilities, "rem" the Light Manager line.



Chapter 3 Basic Programming

Unison Light Manager is designed to help a consultant, technician or user set up the lighting control system quickly and easily. Because of the range of system sizes, the software provides Basic and Advanced levels of programming complexity. To effectively use the program it is very important to understand the display features.



Understanding the display

Pull-down menus

The pull down menus allow you to create and edit items in your configuration.

With the exception of a few **File Menu** items, most functions can be performed using the tool bar (See *"Tool bar functions"* on page 13) or communication buttons (See *"Shortcut buttons"* on page 12).

<u>N</u> ew Open Merrae	Ctrl+N Ctrl+O
<u>Save</u> Save <u>A</u> s Save For Processor	Ctrl+S
Net <u>work Settings</u> Save to Net <u>w</u> orked Unison Processor Save to Online Ne <u>t</u> worked Unison processors	Ctrl+T
Setup Serial PC Interface Send disk file, Serial Receive disk file, Serial Load from Serial Unison processor Save to Serial Unison processor Live Control Access	Ctrl+L Ctrl+U
Job Information	
1 MANUAL.CFG 2 C:\ETC\LIGHTMAN\MANUAL.CFG 3 C:\ETC\LIGHTMAN\BALLROOM.CFG 4 C:\ETC\LIGHTMAN\LM4.CFG	
<u>K</u> eypad	
E <u>x</u> it	



Note: In each menu function, one letter is underlined. By pressing the [Alt] key and the underlined letter, you can directly access that function.

The following list describes the functions in the File Menu only.

- ▼ New Opens the Wizard to create a new configuration.
- ▼ Open Opens a previously created and saved configuration.
- Merge Combines functions of multiple configurations to make one configuration. You must hold down the [Ctrl] key to use this function.
- ▼ Save Saves configuration.
- ▼ Save As Saves current configuration to specified drive/disk.
 - Save For Processor Saves configuration on disk for a specified processor.
 - Network Settings Setup for multiple PC or architectural processors linked together via Ethernet.

Opens Setup PC Interface Connection window.

Used to update LCD background images. This function

Used to access LCD background images. This function

Allows you to limit functions of your configuration using

Save to Networked Saves configuration directly to specified processor Unison Processor connected to the network.

 Save to Online Saves configuration to all online processors, one at a Networked Unison time.

- ▼ Setup Serial PC Interface
- ▼ Send disk file, Serial
- ▼ Receive disk file, Serial
- ▼ Load from Serial Uploads and displays the configuration currently in the Unison processor Unison processor. Requires a PC interface.

requires a PC Interface station.

requires a PC Interface station.

- Save to SerialDownloads current configuration to the UnisonUnison processorProcessor. Requires a PC interface.
- ▼ Live Control Gives you direct viewable control over active and recorded presets, walls and zone levels.
- Access
- ▼ Job Information Allows you to view and edit the information you entered
 - when creating a configuration. This is also where you can add detailed job information.
- Keypad Opens and mimics the Unison processor interface keypad. Disabled for multi-processor Ethernet configurations.
- ▼ Exit Closes Light Manager.

a password.

Shortcut buttons

Shortcut buttons allow point and click access to commonly used functions.

The shortcut buttons are located below the pull-down menus.

🛃 Ur	nison l	Light Ma	inager - I	MANU	AL.CFG					
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>R</u> oom	S <u>e</u> ction	<u>W</u> all	<u>P</u> reset	<u>S</u> tation	<u>Z</u> one			

The following list describes the function of each shortcut button.

Open



The [Open] a configuration file button accesses previously saved Unison configurations (.cfg).



The [Save] to disk button saves the current configurations to specified drive/disk.



Load from Serial Unison Processor



This button uploads a configuration from the external processor to Light Manager, via a serial connection. This is used in conjunction with PC interface stations.

Save to Serial Unison Processor

This button downloads displayed configurations to the Unison Processor. This is used in conjunction with PC interface stations.



Live Control



Live Control indicator



This button gives you direct viewable control over recorded or manual presets, walls and zone levels.

The [Live Control] indicator button turns green when you have online control.

Tool bar functions

Tool bar button functions allow you to edit and modify configurations.

The tool bar is located below the room label of the screen display.



The following list describes the function of each button on the tool bar.

Pointer

The [Pointer] button cancels the selected function and returns the cursor to pointer action. The Pointer button also selects and expands screen objects.

New Preset



The [New Preset] button changes the cursor to a crosshair. Place the crosshair along top of screen and click to place a new preset. Presets are not tied to specific sections.



The [New Zone] button changes the cursor to a crosshair. Place the crosshair in desired room or section and click to place a new zone.

New Station



The [New Station] button opens the station options list. Select, drag and drop new stations in the desired room or section.



The [New Wall] button changes the cursor to a crosshair. Place crosshair in desired room and click and drag to place a new wall.



The [New Section] button changes the cursor to a crosshair. Place crosshair in desired room and click and drag to place a new section.

Record



The [Record] button saves zone levels to the selected preset. To use [Record], set zone levels, select the desired preset and click [Record]. Recall a recorded preset by clicking [Preset] on a control station.

Live Control indicator



The [Live Control] indicator button turns green when at least one of the processors that controls the room is on line.

Configuration Icons

Station, Preset and Zone icons in Rooms and Sections are used to display system status and provide access to system properties.



Rooms are depicted in Light Manager as a moveable, sizable window. A room represents a specific area of control. Each room in a Light Manager configuration has its own graphic display. Rooms may be divided into multiple sections with moving partitions. Room size may be modified by clicking and dragging a corner point of selected room border.

Sections are depicted in Light Manager as a broad field of color with gray or black borders. Sections are portions of a room. Like a room, a section represents a specific area of control. Sections are joined or linked to other sections through walls. When walls are open, lighting of sections operate together. When walls are closed, lighting of sections operate independently. Left clicking a section will select the section for editing. Gray borders turn black when selected. Section size may be modified by clicking and dragging a corner point of selected section border. Right clicking on the section field will bring up the Section Properties menu choice.

Stations are depicted in Light Manager as a small station icon. The graphic icon represents the real station in the actual space and is used in Light Manager to assign station functionality. The station icon is typically located in the room or section it will control. Left clicking a station icon will select the station for editing. Double clicking the station icon will display an exploded view of the station for button and fader assignment. Right clicking on the station icon will bring up the Station Properties menu.

Presets are depicted in Light Manager as an icon of an index finger pushing a button. This icon is typically located at the top of the display. Presets represent a programmed set of levels for room zones. Presets are associated with rooms, not sections. A restaurant might have *breakfast*, *lunch*, *dinner* and *late-night* presets. Left clicking a preset icon will select the preset for editing. Right clicking on the preset icon will bring up the Preset Properties menu.

Solid green and light green Preset icon descriptions:

Solid Green



A solid-green Preset icon indicates that the Preset is active and associated zones have moved to their pre-recorded levels.

Light Green



A light-green Preset icon indicates that although another Preset has been activated, zones that are associated with this Preset are still active.

Zones are depicted in Light Manager as a small light bulb or sconce with an adjacent graphic scale. A zone represents single or groups of DMX512 values that are controlled together. Zone icons are located in the sections of rooms. A Zone's level is displayed in the adjacent graphic scale. Levels may be adjusted by clicking and dragging the scale lever, or by selecting the zone and entering a percentage on your keyboard. The light bulb icon will reflect relative lighting intensity. Left clicking a zone icon will select the zone for editing. Right clicking on the zone icon will bring up the Zone Properties menu choice.

▼ Zone icon descriptions:



A small red X by a Zone icon indicates that this zone is excluded from (not recorded in or affected by) the highlighted (selected) preset.

Check Icon



A small black check mark by a Zone icon indicates that this zone is included in the highlighted (selected) preset. Click once on any preset to see which zones are included.



Note: Select a Preset then right click on a specific Zone, and select Include in Preset or Exclude from Preset

Walls are depicted in Light Manager as gray or black lines between colored **sections. The** wall icon graphically represents the actual moving partition in a large room divided into sections. Lighting control of sections is combined (joined or separated) through walls. When walls are open, lighting of sections operate together. When walls are closed, lighting of sections operate independently. Left clicking a wall will select the wall for editing. When you select the wall, the wall turns black and Light Manager displays chains to indicate sections combined by that wall. Wall size may be modified by pointing and dragging end points of selected wall. Right clicking on the wall will bring up the Wall Properties menu choice.

Status bar

The status bar displays programmed features in the system such as button, tool bar and communication button functions. The status bar is located on the bottom left of the display screen.

Configuring a system

The first step in programming a new lighting control system is understanding the parameters of the system. It is recommended that dimmer and control schedules be completed prior to system configuration.

A configuration is the specific set of room, station, preset, zone, section and wall requirements for an individual project. You can establish new configurations using the configuration and room wizards, or by manually entering the information with the tool bars.

Unison Lig	ht Manager	\times								
Welcome to the Unison Light Manager.										
Please select from the following choices:										
Ŕ	Begin a <u>N</u> e w configuration									
<u> 7</u>	Open a configuration file									
	Load configuration from Serial Unison processor									
	Exit									

To begin a new configuration

- 1. Click [Begin a New configuration]. Light Manager opens the Configuration Wizard and begins to create a new room.
- 2. Click [Next].
- 3. Enter job name, number, location, and engineer into the fields provided.
- 4. Click [Next].
- 5. Click [Next]. Light Manager opens the Room Wizard.
- 6. Enter the room name.
- 7. Click [Next].
- 8. Select single or divisible room configuration. If the room is divisible, you will need to answer several questions about its sections. See page 49.
- 9. Click [Next].
- 10. Select a control station(s) for this room from the list of stations.
- 11. To add more than one of this type of station to the room, click [Quantity].
- 12. Enter how many of that station you want per room or section.
- 13. Click [OK]. Repeat steps 10 through 12 for each type of station.
- 14. Click [Next].
- 15. Enter the number of zones for each room or section. If you do not enter the number of zones, Light Manager will automatically give you the default number of zones on the largest fader station in the room. Enter the starting DMX address for the zones in this room. The Wizard will automatically enter an address based on which room number this is. The pull-down menu also lists common DMX start address.
- 16. Click [Finish]. Light Manager builds a graphic representation of the room showing presets, zones, control stations, and movable partitions.

Changing system properties

▼

System properties consist of the defining elements of rooms, stations, zones, presets, sections and walls.

- ▼ Room properties Define room name, "Mimic LCD page changes" option and designating processor control.
 - Station properties Define station name, whether station is portable, enable off toggle, station Neuron ID number, station lockout level and active station template. Advanced station properties also define zone select functionality and preset priority level.
- Zone properties Define zone name, DMX input mode, link enabling, DMX patch, input patch, maximum zone level, minimum zone level, maximum fade rate and load name.
- Preset properties Define preset name, fade time and flicker effect status.
- ▼ Section properties Define section name.
- ▼ Wall properties Define wall name.

To modify room properties

Unison Light Manager - MANUAL.CFG										
<u>File Edit Room Section Wall Preset Station Zone Help</u>										
Room 1										
	Room Properties									
Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset 4	Off Name Room 1									
1 I III 1	Mimic LCD page changes									
Presets Faders LCD	Presets									
	O Automatic based on DMX-out port usage									
Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3	C Multiple									
	Processor 1									
	OK Cancel									
Section 1	Section 2 Section 3									
For Help, press F1	NUM									

- 1. Select [Properties] from the Room pull-down menu or right click on the white portion of the room and select [Properties]. (You must currently be in the desired room) The **Room Properties** window will be displayed.
- 2. Enter Room name.
- 3. Check the mimic LCD page changes box if you have multiple LCDs within the same room and you want all LCDs to track page selection.
- 4. Select how this room will be controlled by the networked processors.

Note: No changes are required for a single-processor system.

▼ Automatic based on DMX-out port usage

Light Manager determines automatically which processor controls the room based on dimmer patch and which processor controls the most dimmers in that room.

Manual

This setting lets you decide which processor will control this room.

▼ Multiple

Select this setting only if you will need this room to be controlled by multiple processors. A system-wide preset would be one reason to use the multiple processor setting.

5. Select the [OK] button.

To modify station properties

- 1. Right click the desired station.
- 2. Select **Properties...** from the displayed menu. The **Station Properties** screen appears.

Unison Light Manager - MANUAL.CFG		_ & ×
<u>File Edit Room Section Wall Preset Sta</u>	ation <u>Z</u> one <u>H</u> elp	
🖪 Room 1		_ 🗆 🗙
	Station Properties	
Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset 4	off Name Presets OK	
	Portable Station Cancel	
i tiri i 📰	Enable Off Toggle	
Presets Faders LCD F	Presets	
	Ne <u>x</u> t >	
Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3	Zone 1	
	Lockout	
	Level 0 V	
	Station controls at or below the station lockout level will	
	be locked out.	
	Active Template	
	Default	
	<u> </u>	
	Hemove	
	for controls on a station. Selected template is active.	
	To sustanize the functionality of a pushbutten or fader	
Section 1	click on the button or fader using the right mouse button	
	and select a function from the pop-up menu.	

- 3. Enter the station's name.
- 4. Check the **Portable Station** box if the station is portable. A portable station connector must be in the same Room or Section.
- 5. Check the **Enable Off Toggle** box to make active presets toggle to **Off** when their buttons are pressed a second time. Pressing the **Off** button toggles back and forth between **Off** and the last active preset. By default this box is checked.
- 6. The **Zone Select Direct shows Level** is an advanced function. If a zone is set with this functionality, the button LED will light whenever that zone is above a level of zero.
- 7. Enter a station ID number in the ID box. You must include the dashes. You are not required to enter a station ID number. You can display and select station IDs at the Unison processor after the configuration is loaded. If you do enter the correct ID number (including the dashes), the Unison processor will automatically bind to new stations the first time the system is energized.
- Enter the station Lockout level. The default level is 0. You can use lockout levels to control user access to controls. Light Manager assigns lockout levels to stations. When a station lockout level is higher than one of its component's lockout value, the component will not operate. Station lockout levels are initially set by Light Manager, and can be changed by macros during system operation. The lockout level will be displayed in the station window title bar if above zero. For information on setting component lockout levels, see "Lockout values" on page 75.
- 9. Click [Add] to enter additional station template names. Templates are different sets of component functions that can be assigned to control stations. You can switch templates with Light Manager or through macros. The Active Template (other than the default template) will be displayed in the station window title bar on the graphic display. See *"Station templates"* on page 78.
- 10. Click [OK] or [Cancel].

To modify preset properties

1. Double click the preset's icon. The **Preset Properties** window appears.

Junison Light Manager - MANUAL.CF File Edit Room Section Wall Preset	6 Station Zone Help		_ <u>_</u>
			X
Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset 4	Off Preset Properties		×
1 . 11 H	<u>N</u> ame Preset 1		
Presets Faders LCD	Presets <u>F</u> ade Time 2	_	
´ ¶ ['] ´ ¶ ['] ´ ¶ [']	Flicker (None>	▼ Ed	it Flic <u>k</u> er
Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3	Zone 1 < Previous N	ext > OK	Cancel
Section 1	Section 2	Section 3	
For Help, press F1			NIM

- 2. Enter the Preset Name.
- 3. Enter the Fade Time. (The default preset fade rate is 2 seconds)



Note: Preset fade times may be split, meaning that a separate fade time may be applied to zones fading up and zones fading down.

To enter a split fade time, enter the up time, a forward slash ("/"), and the down fade time. (e.g., 2/5)

4. If the flicker effect is required, Select the [Edit Flicker] button. The **Edit Flicker** window will be displayed.

Presets with the flicker effect continually vary zone levels to simulate light output of a fire or lightning.

To add a flicker effect,

- 5. Click the [Add] button. The **Edit Name** window will be displayed.
- 6. Enter the flicker effect name, then click [OK].
- 7. To edit flicker effect, select and highlight flicker name in list.

Edit Flicker	×	1
Flicker		
Flicker 1		
	<u>A</u> dd	
	<u>E</u> dit	
	<u>R</u> emove	
	0 0	
Slow F	ast Level	
<u>S</u> lower <u>F</u> aster	OK	

8. Adjust speed and intensity of flicker effect by moving graphic sliders up or down.



Note: The display in the upper-right corner of the window shows a representation of flicker settings.

- 9. Click the [OK] button to return to the **Preset Properties** window.
- 10. Select the flicker from the "Flicker" pop-up list.
- 11. Select the [OK] button to return to the Light Manager desktop.

Or...[Previous] opens the Properties box for the preset preceding the one you are working on.

Or...[Next] opens the Properties box for the preset next in succession.

To modify zone properties

If you are writing a configuration that is intended for use on a network, see *"Chapter 5 Understanding Network Systems"* on page 89 for more information on routing DMX512 and EDMX through your network.

1. Double click the zone's icon. The **Zone/Dimmer Load Properties** screen appears.

Unison Light Manager - MANUAL CFG File Edit Room Specion Wall Preset Station Zone Help	_ # ×
E C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	_
Preset Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset 4 Off Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset 4 Off Preset 5 Faders LCD Preset 5 Faders LCD Preset 6 Preset 7	
For Help, press F1	NUM

- 2. Enter the Zone Name.
- 3. Select the **DMX Input Mode** for the dimmer numbers in this zone.
 - ▼ Replace

Master

- Unison overrides DMX512 input levels, records and outputs active Unison levels. This is the default Input Mode.
- Snapshot Unison records incoming DMX512 levels. Dimmers must be patched 1-to-1. **Used for UPSAC systems only**.
- Pile-On Unison and DMX512 console signals combine, highest level takes precedence. This is used best for Snapshotting looks from a console.
- Pass-thru DMX512 or EDMX input level passes through Unison system.
 - Unison levels "master" DMX512 passing through the Unison system. (e.g., A Unison fader could be used to fade up and down a chase being run on a console.)
- Replace if on DMX512 input levels are output if Unison levels are at 0. If Unison goes above 0, the Unison level is output.
- Pass through if on Unison levels are output and recorded unless DMX or EDMX levels are above 0%.
- Pass through if active Unison levels are output and recorded unless a DMX or EDMX console is plugged in and turned on.

- 4. Check the **Link when Sections combined** box if control of the zone should be combined with zones that have the same name in adjacent sections when the sections are combined. Uncheck the box if the zone will operate independently of the movable partition's position. By default this box is checked.
- 5. Enter DMX512 or EDMX output patch dimmer numbers to be controlled together.

EDMX allows you to use more than just 512 DMX values in a configuration. In fact, you can have several "universes" of DMX for multiple rooms and multiple processors all linked on a network by Ethernet. See "Chapter 5 Understanding Network Systems" on page 89.

List dimmer numbers individually, separated with a space or comma, or list dimmer number ranges, separated with a dash. Unison will sequence them automatically.



Note: When recording from a console, Zone and dimmer numbers should be patched 1-to-1 with the Zone set to the "Pile-on" mode. If they are not, only the lowest DMX512 value is recorded for a given zone.



Note: If you would like to see on screen which dimmers your zones are patched to, select **Show Dimmer Numbers** from the Room pull down menu.

6. Enter the Input Patch DMX dimmer number.

The Input Patch will redirect the dimmer to the Output Patch dimmer number (above). If no Input Patch number is given, the Output Patch is used.

Example: There are several dimmer racks throughout the building that all have a "dimmer 1" in them. In this case, the input patch would be "dimmer 1", but the output patch may be EDMX value 2000. Since there can only be one sender of information (dimmer 1), redirection to EDMX 2000 eliminates the chance of multiple "dimmer 1" senders of trying to all send out information to a specific zone.



Note: Although the output patch can have multiple dimmers, the input patch is just one dimmer number.

- 7. Enter the Maximum light level for the zone. Although you may set different parameters, the graphical display of a zone will still show the full range for the zone.
- 8. Enter the minimum light level for the zone. Although you may set different parameters, the graphical display of a zone will still show the full range for the zone.

This is useful for setting egress lighting levels. Low-end cutoff levels for limited range sources, such as fluorescent, should be programmed at the dimming rack.

- Check the Use 0 for off box when the minimum light levels are low end cutoff levels for limited range sources. When activated, lights will turn off when level is at zero.
- 10. Enter a Max Fade Rate.

This feature establishes a maximum fade rate for individual zone faders for zone bump applications. Select the **Except for presets** box to override max fade rate in Presets.

- 11. Enter Load Name (optional).
- 12. Click [lcon...] and select either the light bulb or sconce icon for the zone.
- 13. Click [OK].

Or...[Previous] opens the Properties box for the zone preceding the one you are working on.

Or...[Next] opens the Properties box for the zone next in succession.

To modify section properties

1. Double click in the desired section. The **Section Properties** screen appears.



- 2. Enter the Section Name.
- 3. Click [OK].

Or...[Previous] opens the Properties box for the section preceding the one you are working on.

Or...[Next] opens the Properties box for the section next in succession.

To modify wall properties

- 1. Right click the wall's icon.
- 2. Select **Properties...** from the displayed menu. The **Wall Properties** screen appears.



- 3. Enter the wall's name.
- 4. Click [Close].

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Or}}\xspace...[\ensuremath{\mathsf{Previous}}\xspace]$ opens the Properties box for the wall proceeding the one you are working on.

Or...[Next] opens the Properties box for the wall next in succession.

Programming control stations

The Unison control product line consists of preset recall, fader, LCD, connector, contact interface, fader interface, IR, keyswitch and PC interface stations. All station components may be factory or field customized to perform a wide variety of functions.

To customize Fader and Preset recall stations

Fader and preset recall stations use buttons and faders to select, edit and record presets. Stations can use default or custom component programming to control area/room lighting.

- 1. Double click the desired station icon. The station is displayed.
- 2. Right click the station component you want to customize. Light Manager displays a list of function options. To also see advanced control features, hold down the [Ctrl] key while right clicking the station component. See next page for option descriptions for buttons and faders.



3. Select the desired component function.

Button assignments

Note: For options that include either Toggle or Direct; Toggle is equal to momentary switch closure. Direct is equal to maintained switch closure.

Preset Recall Activates the selected preset in a "Last Action" manner.

When activated, Last Action presets turn off all other active presets except Pile-on types.

When an active Preset Recall button is pressed again, it activates the Off preset in "Last Action" mode, turning off other active presets except Pile-on types.



Note: Enable Off Toggle must be active.

▼ Preset (hard of	Recall /	Activates selected preset in a "Last Action" manner identical to "Preset Recall."
		When an active Preset Recall (hard off) button is pressed again, it activates the Off preset in "Last Action Override" mode, turning off other active presets including Pile-on types.
		Note: Enable Off Toggle must be active.
▼ Preset	Toggle	Activates selected preset in a "Pile-On" manner.
		When activated, Pile-On presets do not turn off other presets. Zone levels are set by the highest level of all active presets.
		When an active Preset toggle button is pressed again, it turns off only its own preset.
▼ Off	, 	Activates the Off preset in a "Last Action Override" manner.
	-	Last Action Override activates the selected preset, turning off other active presets including Pile-on.
		When an active Off button is pressed again, it activates the previously active preset.
		Note : If there is no Preset named "Off", this function will fade all Zones to zero.
Note: If the checked, pr buttons rem	e Enable <u>O</u>ff 1 ressing active nain active. So	Foggle box in the Station properties dialog box is not preset or Off buttons twice has no effect – the ee <i>"To modify station properties"</i> on page 19.
▼ Manual	i	Activates zone and master faders. This will deactivate all Presets.
Note: Fade meet or exc or levels.	rs may also b ceed current z	e activated individually by moving them. When they one level, they activate without affecting other faders
▼ Record	:	Selects "record" mode.
▼ Raise	:	Proportionally raises levels of the last active preset or zones in the section if no Preset is active.
▼ Lower		Proportionally lowers levels of the last active preset or zones in the section if no Preset is active.
▼ Wall Op	ben	Indicates the open position of movable partitions, and joins control of lighting in adjacent room.
▼ Wall Clo	osed	Indicates the closed position of movable partitions, and separates control of lighting in adjacent rooms.
▼ Wall To	iggle	Toggles the state of movable walls within the Unison processor. Used when a large room is divided into sections with movable partitions.
▼ Wall Dir	rect	When a designated button is connected to a wall sensor or maintained key switch, the maintained closure opens the wall.
▼ Lockout T	Foggle ,	Alternates lockout state of all stations in a room with a lockout level between 0 and 99.
▼ Lockout E	Direct /	Alternates lockout state of stations in the room based on maintained input signal. When a keyswitch is placed in the disable position, the associated stations will not operate. When a keyswitch is placed in the enable position, stations will operate as programmed.

•	Zone Bump	Alternates designated zone status from full on to full off. The LED will illuminate when the zone is on. Enter maximum fade rate in <i>Zone Properties</i> to adjust rate of fade. Default rate is instant.
•	Zone Bump Direct	Alternates designated zone status from full on to full off based on maintained input signal. Typically used with Contact Interface stations, which receive maintained contact closures from secondary devices.
▼	Zone Select Toggle	Alternates designated zone status from selected to unselected.
•	Zone Select Direct	Alternates designated zone selection status based on maintained input signal. If a zone is set with this functionality and Zone Select Direct Shows Level box is check in the station's properties, the button LED will light whenever that zone is above a level of zero.
▼	Selection Bump Toggle	Bumps selected zone(s) to full. A second button hit sets zones to zero but does not clear selection.
▼	Selection Bump Toggle w/clear	Bumps selected zone(s) to full. A second button hit sets zones to zero and clears selection.
▼	Selection Bump Direct	Bumps selected zone(s) to full while button is depressed.
▼	Zone Group Toggle	Bumps all zones in a preset to designated preset levels.
▼	No Action	Button has no action assigned.
▼	Macro	Assigns Macro activation.
▼	Macro Toggle	Alternates activation of selected macro(s). LED status designates which macro is active.
▼	Macro Direct	Alternates activation of selected macros based on a maintained input signal.
•	Lockout Level	Edits the numeric value at which the button is "locked out." Enter a number between 1 and 100. For more information, see <i>"Lockout values"</i> on page 75.
▼	Legend	Edits the button name displayed on the station within Light Manager. Maximum of 20 characters.
•	Host this control	Allows you to designate a button to run a specific function on another station. Useful for custom stations.
▼	Host all controls	Designates another station to host all controls on a specified station.
▼	Hold down button	Keeps button selected. Used when testing direct- style functions.

Fader assignments



- ▼ Zone
- ▼ Preset
- Master
- ▼ Fade time

Manual

Record

level

v

Dimmer Minimum

Controls dimmers assigned to specific zone.

Controls assigned preset.

Proportionally controls system zones on this station.

Overrides presets' recorded fade time with a new time based on the fader's position. New fade times range from instant at a fader level of 10 percent to two minutes at the 100 percent level. If a zone is set with this functionality and the **Zone Select Direct Shows Level** box is checked in the station's properties, the button LED will light whenever that zone is above a level of zero.

When the fader is at the bottom of its slot, presets use their recorded fade times.

- Activates zone and master faders. Deactivates all Presets.
- Selects "record" mode.

Sets the minimum light level of an associated zone. If a zone is set with this functionality and **Zone Select Direct Shows Level** box is checked in the station's properties, the fader LED will light whenever that zone is above a level of zero.

properties, the fader LED will light whenever that

 Dimmer Maximum level
Sets the maximum light level of an associated zone. If a zone is set with this functionality and Zone Select Direct Shows Level box is checked in the station's

zone is above a level of zero.

▼	No Action	Fader has no action assigned.
▼	Lockout Level	Edits the numeric value where the fader is "locked out." Enter a number between 1 and 100. For more information, see <i>"Lockout values"</i> on page 75.
▼	Legend	View and edit the fader name displayed on the station faceplate by Light Manager. Maximum of 20 characters.
▼	Host this control	Designates a fader to run a specific function on another station. Useful for custom stations.
▼	Host all controls	Designates another station to host all controls on this station.

To record a preset

Using individual zones

1. Create a simple one-room configuration.



- 2. Set the zone levels as you would like to record them. You can do this in one of the following ways.
 - ▼ Select a zone and click anywhere in its slider bar.
 - Select a zone. Left click and hold on the slider. Move slider to new level.
 - ▼ Select a zone and on the numerical keypad, enter the new level.
 - Select a zone, and on the numerical keypad, use the + or keys to adjust the level one percent at a time. Use * for Full.
- 3. Right click on the Preset you would like to record to, (e.g., Preset 1) and select **Record** from the pull-down menu.

Using stations within Light Manager

- 1. Double click to open a fader station.
- 2. Set the zone levels using the faders.
- 3. Change the functionality of one of the buttons to [Record]. See "Fader assignments" on page 29.
- 4. Press the [Record] button.
- 5. Press the Preset button you want to record to.

When you recall the new preset within that section or room, you will see only that section or room's zones move to their new level.

If you activate a system-wide preset, notice that the other section or room's zones move to their own recorded levels.

LCD stations

LCD stations use graphic buttons and faders on tab-style control pages to select, edit and record presets. The LCD offers both standard and custom configured control pages as well as the ability to import custom bitmap images and to control moving lights.

A single LCD station can have up to 30 tabbed control pages. Up to five page tabs can be displayed along the top edge of the LCD screen at one time. To display the desired page, touch the page tab. LCD stations with more than five control pages stack the extra tabs in groups of five in the corner of the display. Touch a stack to hide the current set of tabs and display the next set.

🔁 Unison Light Manager - MA	NUAL.CFG		_ _ _ _ ×
<u>File Edit Room Section V</u>	<u>V</u> all <u>P</u> reset <u>S</u> tation <u>Z</u> one <u> </u>	Help	
Room 1			_ _ ×
Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Pres	et 4		
II IIII IIII IIII Presets Faders LCD	LCD	x	
Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3	Presets Eon	res Walls	
	Preset 2 Preset -	4 💛	
Section 1	Section 2	Section 3	
			NUM

Standard control pages

Standard control pages have preprogrammed component layouts. There are four types of standard pages: zone, preset, wall and menu. Standard control pages cannot be modified.

▼ Zones Page (with normal or narrow faders)

Zone pages provide individual control of lighting zones through graphic faders. You may have up to four faders per page using normal (default) faders...

LCD 🖁					×
	Prese	Zones	Walls Page	//enu 0 0 	

or up to eight faders by checking **use narrow zones** in the page properties dialog box.





Note: Light Manager will add all pages needed to display all presets, walls or zones in the configuration.

▼ Presets Page

Preset pages provide button control of preset recall, raise, lower, and record functions.

🛃 LCD		×
	Presets tones Walls Page Menul III	
	Preset 1 Preset 3	
	Preset 2 Preset 4	
	Off	

Check **Show Time and Date** in the **Page Properties** dialog box to add the time and date to your presets page.

tCD				×
	Presets Zones	WallsMenu	}	
	Preset 1 Preset 3	\land	12:09 pm	
	Preset 2 Preset 4	\sim	4/28/2000	
	Off	۲	Fri	
▼ Walls page

Wall pages use horizontal lines to represent movable partitions. A solid line indicates that a wall is closed and in place, with lighting operating independently. A broken dashed line indicates that a wall is open and not in place, with lighting for the adjacent rooms operating together.

🛃 LCD		×
	Prese(Zone) Walls Page(Menu)	
	Wall 1 Wall 2	

Menu Page

Menu pages use graphic buttons and arrows to lead you through basic control module version 1.6 setup functions. See "Advanced LCD features" on page 82 for additional Menu screen details.

		_
	Prese/Zone/Walls/ Menu .	
	Unison Me(v1.65.012) [Setup]	
L	Enter V	

Note: Menu page control access should be limited to qualified personnel only. It is not recommended that LCD stations with a menu page be accessible to the general public.

To add standard control pages

1. Right click in the tab region of the LCD screen. A list of options appears.



2. Select **Add Standard Page**. The Add Standard Page Type screen appears, listing the available page types.

Add Standard Page Type 🛛 🗷
Select page type to add:
Presets
Zones
<u>W</u> alls
<u>M</u> enu
Cancel



Note: Select **Move Page Left** and **Move Page Right** to place added or selected page in desired position. Select **Remove Page** to delete an unwanted page.

Custom control pages

Custom pages allow you to create an LCD page using button, faders, walls, moving lights and bit-mapped elements.

🕂 LCD 🛛 🗡
Custom 1 fom 2 fom 3 om 4 fom 6 Custom 1 fom 2 fom 3 om 4 fom 6 Bkfst Dinner 571

To add a custom control page

1. Click in the tab region of the LCD screen. An options list appears.

Unison Light Manager - MA Eile Edit Boom Section V BR 200 1	NUAL.CFG /all <u>P</u> reset <u>S</u> tation <u>Z</u> one	Help	_ 5 X
Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset 1 Preset 5 Faders LCD	et 4	_	×
Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3	Preset 1 Pr Preset 2 Pr Off	Add Standard Page Add Custom Page Edit Page Set as Timeout page Move Page to Left Move Page to Right Remove Page	
Section 1	Section 2	Section 3	
	-		NUM

2. Select Add Custom Page. The Page Properties screen appears.

Page Properties 🔀
Name Page
When the station lockout level is at or above this value, this page will be disabled
Lockout Value 40 💌
By entering the unlock code, the page may be used. This code is also used to unlock controls that are locked out.
Unlock Code
When the station lockout level is at or above this value, this page will be hidden.
Visibility Value 60 💌
Background image
Page Timeout
OK Cancel

- 3. Enter or edit the page name.
- 4. Enter or edit the Page Lockout value.

Page lockout value is a number between 0 and 100 you assign to the page to control user access for security purposes. Light Manager assigns custom pages a default lockout value of 40.

When a page lockout value is less than the station's lockout level, the page is replaced by a security keypad.

5. Enter the Unlock Code.

The Unlock Code allows authorized personnel to bypass lockout levels by entering the unlock code with the keypad. See *"Lockout values"* on page 75.

6. Enter the Visibility value.

Visibility value is a number between 1 and 100 you assign to the page to control its visibility. When a station lockout level is the same or higher than the visibility value, the page is hidden. Light Manager assigns a default visibility value of 60. See *"Visibility levels"* on page 75.

7. To use a background image, enter the name of the image file in the **Background Image** box.

A background image file can be any black and white 256 x 128 pixel Windows bitmap (.bmp) file. The file must be placed in the same directory as Light Manager before the configuration is transferred to the Unison processor. The default location for Light Manager's directory is C:\Program Files\ETC\LightManager. The bitmap file must also be saved to the diskette you use to load the configuration.

- 8. Click [OK]. The bitmap will be visible if installed.
- 9. Enter or select the amount of time for the **Page Timeout**.
- 10. Select which LCD page will be displayed after the timeout.



Note: Another way to set the Timeout Page is to right click on an LCD page and select **Set as Timeout Page**.

To configure a custom page

T

You may add any of the four available components to a custom page. The four options are:

- Button Buttons may select presets or macros; activate special functions such as record, raise, lower, wall toggle, lock out toggle; or provide information such as date, day, time, and label.
- Zone Zone faders control individual lighting zones. Four standard width faders fit on an LCD page.
- Zone (narrow) Narrow zone faders work like normal zone faders but take up less screen space. Eight narrow width faders fit on an LCD page.
 - X/Y X/Y input controls moving light applications. The X and Y axis control two sequential zones.
- 1. Right click on the blank custom page at the spot where you want to place the component. A list of components appears.



- 2. Select the component you want. The button, zone fader or X/Y control appears on the page.
- 3. To move a component on the page, put the cursor arrow over it and press and hold the right mouse button. As long as you are holding down the mouse button, you can drag the component around the page. Release the button to place the component.

• **Note**: Do not overlap graphics. Doing so will cause problems with your custom page functions and a graphic overlap indicator will be displayed.



To edit custom page button functions

1. Right click on a button. A button function list appears. To add the advanced functions to the list, hold down the [Ctrl] key while right clicking.



2. Select the function you want the button to provide. Light Manager labels the button appropriately.

Button assignments

Off

Note: For options that include either Toggle or Direct; Toggle is equal to momentary switch closure. Direct is equal to maintained switch closure.

Preset Recall Activates selected preset in a "Last Action" manner. When activated, Last Action presets turn off all other active presets except Pile-on types.

> When an active Preset Recall button is pressed again. it activates the Off preset in "Last Action" mode, turning off other active presets except Pile-on types.

Activates selected preset in a "Last Action" Preset Recall manner identical to "Preset Recall." (hard off)

> When an active Preset Recall (hard off) button is pressed again, it activates the Off preset in "Last Action Override" mode, turning off other active presets including Pile-on types.

Activates selected preset in a "Pile-On" manner. Preset Toggle

> When activated, Pile-On presets do not turn off other presets. Zone levels are set by the highest level of all active presets.

When an active Preset toggle button is pressed again, it turns off only its own preset.

Activates the Off preset in a "Last Action Override" manner.

Last Action Override activates the selected preset, turning off other active presets including Pile-on.

When an active Off button is pressed again, it activates the previously active preset.

Note: If the **Enable Off Toggle** box in the Station properties dialog box is not checked, pressing active preset or Off buttons has no effect — the buttons remain active. See "To modify station properties" on page 19. Selects "record" mode. Record v Raise Proportionally raises levels of the last active preset or zones in the section if no Preset is active. Proportionally lowers levels of the last active preset Lower or zones in the section if no Preset is active. Wall Open Indicates the open position of movable partitions, and joins control of lighting in adjacent room. Wall Close Indicates the closed position of movable partitions, and separates control of lighting in adjacent rooms. Toggles the state of movable walls within the Unison Wall Toggle processor. Used when a large room is divided into sections with movable partitions. Lockout Toggle Alternates lockout state of station. Zone Bump Toggle Alternates designated zone status from full on to full T off. The button will highlight when the zone is on. Enter maximum fade rate in *Zone Properties* to adjust rate of fade. Default rate is instant. Zone Bump Direct Alternates designated zone status from full on to full off based on maintained input signal. Zone Select Toggle Turns zone on full while button is held down. ▼ Selection Bump Bumps selected zone(s) to full. A second button hit fades to zero but does not clear selection. Toggle Selection Bump Bumps selected zone(s) to full. A second Toggle w/clear button hit fades to zero and clears selected zone. Selection Bump Bumps selected zone(s) to full while button is held down. Direct Zone Group Toggle Bumps all zones in a preset to designated preset levels (maintained input signal). No Action Button has no action assigned. T Macro Assigns Macro activation to component. Macro Toggle Alternates activation of selected macro(s). LED V status designates which macro is active. Runs one Macro when button is pressed and another Macro Direct V when button is released. Date The button displays the date. Day The button displays the day of the week. T Time The button displays the time. Label Displays a word you enter on the page. Lockout/Visibility Edits the numeric value at which the button is "locked out". Enter a number between 1 and 100.

> 75. Legend View and edit the button name displayed on the station faceplate by Light Manager. Maximum of 10

For more information, see "Lockout values" on page

characters. Deletes selection.

Delete

To edit custom page fader functions

1. Right click on a fader. A Fader Properties list appears.



2. Modify the fader's legend, lockout level or visibility level.

Fader function options

- ▼ Lockout/Visibility Edits one numeric value at which the fader is "locked out" and another to make it invisible. Enter a number between 1 and 100 for each value, or click [OK] to use the default values. For more information, see "Lockout values" on page 75.
- ▼ Legend Edits the fader name displayed on the LCD control page. Maximum of eight characters
- ▼ Delete Deletes selected fader.

To edit LCD page properties

- 1. Click in the tab region of the LCD screen. An options list appears.
- 2. Select Edit Page. The Page Properties screen appears.

🚰 Unison Light Manager - M	ANUAL.CFG		_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
File Edit Room Section	<u>W</u> all <u>P</u> reset <u>S</u> tation <u>Z</u> one <u> </u>	Help	
Room 1	Page Properties	×	
	<u>N</u> ame Zones		
	When the station lockout level is will be disabled	at or above this value, this page	
Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Pr	Lockout Value 50 V		
	By entering the unlock code, the palso used to unlock controls that a	page may be used. This code is are locked out	
Presets Faders	Unlock Code		
2 ²⁵ 2 ⁰ Zone 1 Zone 2	When the station lockout level is a will be hidden.	at or above this value, this page	
	⊻isibility Value 70 💌		
	Background image		
	Page <u>T</u> imeout 2:00	Page	
	Use <u>N</u> arrow Zones		
	OK	Cancel	
Section 1	Section 2	Section 3	
			-
1			NUM

- 3. Enter the page Name. Maximum of 16 characters.
- 4. Enter the Page Lockout value. (See "Lockout values" on page 75.)

Page lockout values are numbers between 1 and 100 assigned to pages to control user access. Light Manager assigns the following default lockout values to pages.

Zone Page50Preset Page80Wall Page40Custom Page40

When a station lockout level exceeds a page lockout value, the page displays a security keypad and will not operate. Authorized users can use a one to four-digit unlock code on the keypad to make the page usable.

5. Enter the Unlock Code.

The *Unlock Code* is series of up to four numbers that unlock control pages. Light Manager sets the Unlock code to "0" by default.

6. Enter the Visibility value.

Visibility values are numbers between 1 and 100 assigned to pages to control user access. Light Manager assigns the following default visibility values to pages if you don't enter a level.

Zone Page	70	Preset Page	90
Wall Page	60	Custom Page	60

Visibility values operate similar to lockout values (see step 4 above). A visibility value lower than the station lockout level hides the page.

7. Enter Background Image if desired

Background images must be created and saved as Windows bitmap (.bmp) files to the same directory that Light Manager is located. If Light Manager is in the default directory, bitmap files would be saved to C:\Program files\ETC\Lightmanager. Images must be 256 W x 128 H pixels and in a black and white format.

HINT: Do not use the top 1/5" (25 pixels) of the bitmap image. This portion is displayed in the tab section of the LCD.

8. Enter the Page Timeout

The Page Timeout is the length of time before the page changes to an indicated page or lockout.

- 9. Specify the Page to display after the timeout.
- 10. Click [OK].

Modifying LCD screen features

Follow the steps below to access the LCD screen editor.

📕 LCD					×
		_			
		light l			
	: 50	100	25	: : 4:10	
	Contrast	Brightness	Dim Level	Dim Delay	

- 1. Hold down the left mouse button at ①.
- 2. Click the right mouse button.
- 3. Release the left mouse button.
- 4. Click the left mouse button at 2.
- 5. Adjust LCD contrast, brightness, dim level and dim delay as desired.



Note: Once you have completed steps 1-5 the above screen will be displayed.

This feature allows you to set the contrast and brightness of the LCD for general use. You can also set the amount of time (Dim Delay) before the LCD will change to a low-light level (Dim Level).

Connector stations

Connector stations provide wall mounted connectors for portable stations and/or PCs.

Portable Station Connectors

Portable station connectors allow a user to connect portable preset recall, fader or LCD stations to the control network. The system does not require any special configuration for a portable station connector. Each portable station must be "bound" to the processor individually when system is first turned on.



PC Interface Connectors

PC Interface connectors allow a user to connect a PC to the control network. The PC may be used for uploading or downloading Light Manager configurations and/or online system monitoring. As an on-line tool, Light Manager lets users select, edit and record presets and timeclock events for general architectural purposes.



Continued on next page...

Light Manager is not a live console or control board. Depending on system size, PC screen graphic update or refresh rates may be affected. If using online control you must configure your PC COM port.

Setup PC Interface Connection		
Select PC interface method		
C Network or not connected		
С СОМ <u>1</u>		
<u>с сом2</u>		
© COM3		
С СОМ <u>4</u>		
O PCC-10 PC Card		
OK Cancel		

- 1. Under the File menu, select Setup Serial PC Interface.
- 2. Select which port your PC will be using to connect to the network.
- 3. Click [OK].
- 4. You will need to restart your computer for changes to the COM ports to take affect.

⇒
V

Note: If you use both Light Manager and Sensor ETCLink Utilities, ETC recommends editing the "config.sys" file directly rather than using "Setup Serial PC Interface." See page 7.

Contact/Fader Interface Stations

Contact/Fader Interface stations control lighting based on maintained or momentary contact closure inputs or 0-5Vdc analog from secondary devices, such as building automation controls or security systems. Each station supports the termination of either eight switches or pots and eights lamps of LEDs to be connected to the Link Power network. Stations are assigned to rooms in the initial configuration of the system from the station list. Stations may also be added from the **New Station** toolbar button.

To customize Contact/Fader Interface stations

- 1. Double click the Switches/Faders icon. The station is displayed.
- 2. Press and hold the [Ctrl] button while right clicking the button or fader you want to customize. Light Manager displays a list of function options. See page 29 for a description of options.



3. Select the desired component function for each used position.

IR Stations

Infrared station control lighting uses hand held programmable transmitters and ceiling- or wall-mounted IR receivers.

To customize IR transmitter stations

- 1. Double click the IR/Transmitter icon.
- 2. Right click the button you want to customize. See page 26 for a description of options.



3. Select the desired function for each button used.

...or select one of two pre-programmed IR transmitters from the station list.

7-button transmitters

🚮 IR 2	×
Rairo	Prorot 1
Lauer	Prozot 2
	Prorot 3
	Prozot 4
	0ff

12-button transmitters

🚮 IR 3	×
r	
Prozet1	iaire
Prorot2	
Prorot3	
Prozot4	
	0#

Programming Rooms with Moving Partitions

Rooms with moving partitions have special lighting control requirements that must be programmed using Light Manager. The small spaces created by the division of a large room are called sections. When the partitions are closed, each section needs individual or separate lighting control. When some or all of the partitions are open, the larger spaces need grouped or joined lighting control. Light Manager supports setup of nine of the most common divisible room configurations through the Room Wizard. You can create alternate layouts in Light Manager using the tool bars.

To program a divisible room using the Room Wizard

- 1. Create a new room using the Room Wizard. See "Configuring a system" on page 16 for Wizard details.
- 2. Select [Yes] when asked if the space is divisible.
- 3. Select [Next]. The Combine Type screen is displayed.

Choose the layout that resembles your combinable room. If your room is not represented exactly, choose the layout that is closest. You can move or add walls and sections manually later.			
•	• 💾	• 💾	
•	• 🖽	•	
• ====	•	•	
Cancel	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> e	ext > <u>F</u> inish	

- 4. Select the layout that resembles your combinable room.
- 5. Select [Next]. In layouts with a large wall spanning multiple sections, the **Combine Walls** screen is displayed. In smaller layouts, the **wall station** screen is displayed.

Select whether the large wall opens incrementally or all at once.

Room Wizard - Combine Walls	X	
Does the large wall open all at once, or incrementally?		
C All at once		
C Incrementally		
Cancel < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > <u>Finis</u>	1	

Or...

Select [Next]. The **Wall Stations** screen will be displayed.

Room V	Vizard - Wall Stations 🛛 🔀	
Please : be used	select the type and quantity of Wall Stations that will I in this room.	
A statio	n of each type will be placed in each section.	
Set the You may	quantity for each type of station you want. y add or remove stations later.	
3	Entry (1/2 gang)	
	1 Preset, Off (1/2 gang)	
	4 Presets, Off (1/2 gang)	
-	Entry (1 gang)	
:	1 Preset, Off (1 gang)	
4 Presets, Off (1 gang)		
Quant	ity Cancel < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > <u>Finish</u>	

6. Select type and quantity of stations to be used in **each section**.

7. Select [Next]. The zones screen is displayed.



- 8. Enter the number of zones required for **each section**.
- 9. Select [Finish]. The graphic room layout is displayed.

Light Manager automatically configures section and wall combinations.

To modify a divisible room using the tool bars

Complete the Room Wizard, selecting the layout that most closely resembles your divisible space.

To add a section

- 1. Select the New Section tool.
- 2. Place the tool cross-hair on the upper left corner of desired new section.
- 3. Left click and drag the cross-hair to the lower right corner of the desired new section. A new section is displayed. Section size may be modified by selecting the pointer tool and using standard Windows conventions.



With new section added...



To add a wall

1. Select the New Wall tool.



- 2. Place tool cross-hair on one end of the border between two sections where there is a movable partition.
- 3. Left click and drag cross-hair to the other end of the border. A new wall is displayed. Wall size may be modified by selecting the pointer tool and using standard Windows conventions.



To program wall logic

Wall logic establishes which sections combine when a partition is open.

- 1. Select the desired section. The border will turn black.
- 2. Select the wall. The wall turns black.
- 3. Select **Combine through selected wall** from the Section pull down menu (or right click on the wall). A chain will appear in combined section.



- 4. Select the adjacent section. (The wall should still be selected)
- 5. Select **combine through selected wall** from the Section pull down menu or by right clicking on the section. A chain will appear in sections that have been combined. Double clicking the wall will join or separate lighting control of assigned sections. The join/separate function may be assigned to a button or part of a macro sequence.

To program control logic

There are two prevailing philosophies regarding the control of rooms with moving partitions.

In the first method, identical presets are programmed for each section. When the sections are combined, presets are selected in parallel. If presets are not identical, lighting levels of the zones will be different in combined spaces. This method is the easiest to program and is recommended for sections with similar zone layouts.

In the second method, presets are programmed for each section and combination of sections. When sections are combined, a macro is activated that changes the control templates of the stations within the combined sections to an alternate set of presets. This method is harder to program yet provides greater system flexibility in applications where lighting configuration changes dramatically based on the position of the moving partitions. See *"Station templates"* on page 78 for additional details on programming station templates.

Programming Macro sequences

A macro is a programmed sequence of events activated manually by a button or automatically by the integrated time clock. Sequence steps may include preset recall, wall state change, station property change, zone property change, timed delay in sequence, macro recall and stop macro.

To program a Macro

1. Select the **Show Room List** option from the Room menu. The **Area** screen appears.

	Unison Light Manager - MAI	NUAL.CFG		_ 8 ×
E	ile <u>E</u> dit <u>H</u> elp			
Ľ	98 😧 🗶 関			
E	Room 1			
]_[Rooms			
	Room 1			
F	4			
			1 : M1 100	1
		s LCD	Presets Faders LCD	
	Add Open Re	move		
		2 Zope 3	Zope 1 Zope 2 Zope 3	
	Macros			
	Add Edit Re	move		
	Run Stop A			
	Section 1	Section 2	Section 3]
E	or Help, press F1			NUM
	1.1			

2. Click [Add] below the list of macros. The Edit Macro screen appears.

		Unison Light M	lanager - N	IANUAL.C	FG				_ 8 ×
Boome	Eil	e <u>E</u> dit <u>H</u> elp							
Room 1		Room 1							
		Area	Edit Macr	0				×	
		Rooms	Name M	acro 1				ОК	
		Troom T	Macro					Canaal	
	Pi		Recall Pre	set 'Preset '	l' in 'Room 1' (Last Actio	n, p10)			
			Recall Pre	set 'Preset i set 'Preset i	2' in 'Room 1' (Last Actio 3' in 'Room 1' (Last Actio	n, p10) n n10)		Add Step	
			Recall Pre	set Preset	t' in 'Room 1' (Last Actio	n, p10)		Edit Step	
			Loop Macr	D				Correction of the second	
		Add 0						Lopy step	
		Timod Euon						Bemove Step	
Add Edit		Tuned r 461						Bun Sten	
		<u>M</u> acros						- Allow a start	
		Macro 2						Move Up	
Limed Events								Move Down	
	11								
Macros			Multiple	Instances /	allowed				
		A <u>d</u> d E	d <u>i</u> t Coj	Bem	ove				
Macro 1		Bun		Stop All					
Macro 2									
		Sectio	on 1		Section 2		Section 3		
	Fr	v Holo, proce E1							INIT IN
	1	C DIESSI	-	-					INOM
A <u>a</u> a Ed <u>i</u> t		Lopy	Hemov	e					
			_						
R <u>u</u> n		<u>S</u> top	All						

3. Enter the new macro's name.

4.	Click [Add Step].	The New Macro	Step screen appears.
----	-------------------	---------------	-----------------------------

Unison Light Manager - MANUAL	.CFG		_ 8 ×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>H</u> elp			
Room 1			
Area Edit Maara			
<u>Rooms</u>		7	
Room 1 Name mac	ro 1		οκ
P. Macro	New Macro Step	×	S
	Macro step type	ОК -	Lancei
	Recall Preset Wall		Add Step
	Station Property		Edit Step
	Wait	-	Late step
Add	Call Macro		jopy Step
<u>T</u> imed Ever	Stop Macio	Re	m <u>o</u> ve Step
Macros			P (24
			<u>Run step</u>
			Mave Up
	+U		ove <u>D</u> own
	starices Allowed Number	of Iterations	
Add Edit B	emove		
R <u>un</u> <u>S</u> top	All		
Section 1	Section 2	Section 3	
For Help, press F1			NUM

- 5. Select the desired macro step type from the list (shown above) and click [OK]. Then follow the lettered steps indicated below for the step type you have chosen.
 - ▼ Recall Preset Selects a preset. When selected as a macro step the **Recall Preset** Screen appears.

Recall Preset	:	×
<u>R</u> oom	Room 1	ОК
<u>S</u> ection	<all sections=""></all>	Cancel
<u>P</u> reset	Preset 1	
<u>L</u> evel	100	
<u>M</u> ode	Last Action	
Pr <u>i</u> ority	10 (default)	
<u>F</u> ade Time	:2	
	₩ait for fade	

- a. Enter the room name the macro will affect from the pull down options.
 - In the same room (as the station)
 - In all rooms
 - Specific room name from the room list
- b. Enter the section name from the pull down options.
 - In all sections
 - Specific section name from the section list
- c. Select preset to recall.
- d. Enter desired intensity level.

- e. Enter desired preset activation mode. The four preset activation modes are:
 - Last Action the selected preset will be activated, de-activating all previously selected presets except Pile-on.
 - Pile-On the selected preset is activated and levels reflect the highest level of any activated preset. Previously selected presets are not de-activated.
 - Last Action Override the last selected preset is activated, de-activating all previously selected presets including Pile-on.
 - Deactivate- Clears selected preset.
 - f. Enter preset priority level. This assigns relative "priority" or importance of a control selection based on levels from 1-10 (10 is the default priority, 1 is highest priority). See "Preset priorities" on page 76.
 - g. Enter a Fade Time from 0.001 to 1,000 hours.
 - h. Click [Wait for Fade] to hold macro step progression until fade is complete.
 - i. Click [OK].

Re-defines wall state. When selected as a macro step, the **Set Wall State** screen is displayed.

Set Wall S	tate	×	1
<u>R</u> oom	Room 1	• OK	
<u>₩</u> all	Wall 1	Cancel	
<u>A</u> ction	Toggle	_	

- a. Enter the name of room in which to change the wall state.
- b. Enter the wall name to change.
- c. Enter the desired action; open, close or toggle.
 - Open opens the wall. Sections set to combine through the wall will operate jointly.
 - *Close* closes the wall. Sections set to combine through the wall will operate independently.
 - *Toggle* changes an open wall to a closed wall or a closed wall to an open wall.
- d. Click [OK].

Vall

▼ Station Property

Zone Property

V

Changes station properties. (See *Changing Properties* section.) When selected as a macro step, the **Set Station Property** screen appears.

Set Station F	Property	×
<u>R</u> oom	Room 1	OK
S <u>e</u> ction	Section 1	Cancel
<u>S</u> tation	Presets	
Property	Lock Level	
<u>V</u> alue	40	

- a. Enter the room name the macro will affect from the pull down options.
 - In all rooms
 - One room name from the room list
- b. Enter the section name from the pull down options:
 - In all sections
 - One section name from the section list
- c. Enter station type to modify or use the default *All Stations.*
- d. Select station property to change. The station properties a macro can modify are:
 - Lockout level See To modify station properties on page 19.
 - Template changes the station template.
 - LCD Page allows selection of LCD page.
- e. Enter Value. Value will change depending on station property selected.
 - Lockout level 0-100
 - Template Template name.
 - LCD page LCD page name.
- Re-defines zone properties. (See *Changing Properties* section.) When selected as a macro step the **Set Zone Property** screen appears.

Set Zone Pro	operty	×
<u>R</u> oom	Room 1	OK
S <u>e</u> ction	Section 1	Cancel
Zone	Zone 1	
Property	Level	
<u>V</u> alue	80	

- a. Enter the room name the macro will affect from the pull down options:
 - In all rooms
 - One room name from the room list.

- b. Enter the section name from the pull down options:
 - In all sections
 - One section name from the section list.
- c. Enter zone to modify or use the default *All Zones*.
- d. Select zone property to change. The zone properties a macro can modify are:
 - *Level* The exact lighting intensity of the zone. Enter an intensity percentage.
 - *DMX512 input mode* changes how the zone will react to incoming DMX values.

Select one of eight DMX512 input modes *Replace* – Unison overrides DMX512 input.

Snapshot – Unison records incoming DMX512 levels.

Pile-On – Unison and console signals combine, highest level takes precedence.

Pass-thru – DMX512 input passes through Unison system. Unison values are ignored.

Master – Unison levels "master" DMX passing through the Unison system. (i.e., A Unison fader could be used to fade up and down a chase being run on a console.)

Replace if on – DMX levels are output unless Unison levels are above 0%.

Pass through if on – Unison levels are output and recorded unless DMX levels are above 0%.

Pass through if active – Unison levels are output and recorded unless a DMX console is plugged in and turned on.

- *Minimum* The minimum intensity level of the zone. Enter an intensity percentage. If a zone is set with this functionality and **Zone Select Direct Shows Level** box is check in the station's properties, the button LED will light whenever that zone is above a level of zero.
- Maximum The maximum intensity level of the zone. Enter an intensity percentage. If a zone is set with this functionality and Zone Select Direct Shows Level box is checked in the station's properties, the button LED will light whenever that zone is above a level of zero.
- e. Enter Value of property change.
- Multiple instances allowed

Check this box if the macro will be assigned to multiple control stations and you want each station to run the macro independently.

	▼ Wait	Provides a programmable delay in sequence progression. When selected as a macro step a Wait screen appears.			
		Wait IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII			
	▼ Call Macro	a. Select or enter the desired delay time in hours, minutes and seconds. (e.g., H:M:S)b. Click [OK].Selects a programmed macro. When selected as a macro step a Macro list appears.			
		Macro 🔀			
		Macro Return to Login Cancel			
		 a. Highlight the Macro to select or click [loop macro] to create a "loop" function. b. Click [OK]. Note: When a Macro is "Called", the next step does not run until the Called macro is complete. 			
	▼ Stop Macro	Stops a macro's progression. When selected as a macro step a Macro list is displayed.			
		Macro 🔀			
		Macro Return to Login Cancel			
		a. Highlight the Macro to be stopped.			
		b. Click [OK].			
6.	Add additional steps as	s required.			
7.	Click [OK] to record ma	acro.			



Note: Use the [**Move Up**] and [**Move Down**] buttons to change the order of highlighted macro steps. Use the [**Remove Step**] button to delete a macro step. [**Copy Step**] will duplicate selected step and [**Run Step**] will run highlighted step in the Macro.

8. Enter the Number of Iterations. This number will determine the number of times the macro will loop.

This function will only work if Loops are added to steps. See **Call Macro**.

9. Click [OK].

To edit macro steps

1. Select the **Show Room List** option from the Room menu.

Onison Light Manager - MANOAL.CFG				
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>H</u> elp				
Room 1				- 🗆 🗙
Area - X				
🖬 Area 📰 🖬				
Booms				
Pr Hoom 1				
		1 : TLAT 1		
	LCD	Presets Faders	LCD	
	R	🕤 🕤 🕤	<mark>פ</mark> י	
Add Op <u>e</u> n Remove	Zone 3	Zone 1 Zone 2 Z	one 3	
Timed Events				
<u>M</u> acros				
Add Edit Remove				
Run Stop All				
Section 1 Secti	0.0.2	Section 3		
	011 2	Section 5		

- 2. Highlight the macro to edit.
- 3. Click [Edit]. The **Edit Macro** screen appears.

📴 Unison Light Manager - MAI	NUAL.CFG			_ = ×
Eile Edit Help				
Room 1 Ha Area Eile Edit Help	anager - MANUAL.CFG		_ @ X	_ 🗆 X
Room 1	Edit Macro	×	×	
P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	Macro Macro Macro Recall Preset Yesset Yes Preset Yesset Yes	ρ100 Δdd Step ρ100 Fdd Step ρ100 Fdd Step μ Concel		
<u>A</u> dd <u>Timed Even</u>	Multinle Instances Allowed	Hun Step Move JJp Move Down		
Macros	Benove Stop All Section 2	Section 3		
For Help, press F1 Add E dift Re Bun Stop A	move		MUM	
Section 1	Section 2	Section 3		
For Help, press F1				NUM

4. Highlight the step to edit.

5. Click [Edit Step]. The associated step screen appears.

Edit Macro			×			
Name macro	Recall Preset	×	L			
<u>M</u> acro	<u>R</u> oom	Room 1 OK	OK			
	Section	Section 1 Cancel	Cancer			
	<u>P</u> reset	Preset 1	<u>A</u> dd Step			
	<u>L</u> evel	100	Edit Step			
	<u>M</u> ode	Last Action	Copy Step			
	Pr <u>i</u> ority	10 (default)	iem <u>o</u> ve step			
	<u>F</u> ade Time	:2	<u>R</u> un Step			
		Wait for fade	Move <u>U</u> p			
•			Move <u>D</u> own			
Multiple Instances Allowed Number of Iterations						

- 6. Make any necessary changes.
- 7. Click [OK] to save the edited macro.

Programming Astronomical time clock events

Unison Light Manager provides a powerful integrated astronomical time clock for automating your lighting control. Timeclock events schedules are programmed for each default and custom day type. Default day types include anyday, weekday, weekend, Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, Friday, Saturday, and Sunday.

The time clock activates events based on their relation to sunrise, sunset, a specific time of day or periodic schedule. The Unison Processor automatically calculates astronomical time based on latitude and longitude. To manually set the altitude, longitude and latitude, see the *Unison Installation Guide*. Depending on the day, default day type schedules are activated. On a Monday, the anyday, weekday and Monday schedules are activated. On a Sunday, the anyday, weekend and Sunday schedules are activated. Each and every calendar day may be programmed through Light Manager to operate an alternate default or custom day type schedule.

To create a custom day type

- 1. Select **Show Room List** from the Room pull down menu.
- 2. Click [Timed Events]. The Edit Timed Events screen appears.

Edit Timed Ev	ents	×
<u>D</u> ay Type	Any day Edit	Close
Add	Weekend Monday Tuesday	<u>C</u> alendar
Sun <u>r</u> ise		Edit
Add		
	I F	Remove
<u>T</u> ime of day		Edit
Add		
		Remove
Sun <u>s</u> et		Edit
Add		
	T T	Remove
<u>P</u> eriodic		Edit
Add		
	I I	Remove
	Also use events from default day type	

3. Click [Calendar]. A calendar for the current month appears.

Calendar									×
<u> </u>	ay <mark>c</mark>	<mark>+</mark> , alendar			40				× <u>C</u> lose
Sun	м	<u>T</u> od	ay +	October		1999 +			
		Sun	Mon	Tue	₩ed	Thu	Fri	Sat	7:00:51 am
26	2	26	27	28	29	30	1	2	Sunset 6:30:41 pm 6:30:41 pm
_		3	4	5		7	8	9	DST DST
3	"	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	Day Type
10	1	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	Create Custom
10		24	25	26	27	28	29	30	
17	1	31	1	2	3	4	5	6	ustom
24	25	i	26	27		28	29		30
31	1		2	3		4	5		6

4. Find and highlight the date to customize.

- Click [Create Custom]. The **Day Type** screen appears. Calendar X + December 1999 + <u>T</u>oday <u>C</u>lose Tue Wed Thu Sun Mon Fri Sat Day Type × 7:28:38 am 28 4:27:39 pm Christmas • <u>N</u>ame 5 ε OK Cancel 12 1, 4 Create Custom 19 20 21 22 23 24 26 27 28 29 30 31 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
- 6. Enter the Name of the custom day type
- 7. Click [OK].

5.

8. Click [Close] to return to the Edit Timed Events screen.

To record an Astronomical Time Clock event

1. Select a day type. The [Add] buttons will be activated.

1	Unicon Light Manago	- MANUAL (°FG			
Fil	e Edit Heln					
	Boom 1	Edit Timed Ev	ents		×	
Г	Area	<u>D</u> ay Type	Any day	▲ Edit	Close	
	Booms	Add	Weekend		Calendar	
	Room 1		Monday Tuesday	Remove		
Р		Sun <u>r</u> ise			E dit	
		Add				
			1		Remove	
		<u>T</u> ime of day			Edit	
	<u>A</u> dd <u>Open</u> .	Add				
	Timed Events		•		Remove	
	Macros	Sun <u>s</u> et			Edit	
	Macro 2	Add				
					Remove	
		Periodic			Edit	
	Add Edit	Add				
			•		Remove	
			Also use events from	default day type		
	Section 1		Section 2	Section 3		
Ec	r Help, press F1					NUM

- 2. Select the activation type.
 - ▼ Sunrise Sunrise events are activated based on the programmed relation to the calculated sunrise.

Unison Light Manager - M/	ANUAL.CFG
<u>Eile E</u> dit <u>H</u> elp	
28 😧 😒 🔜 🔜	
Edit T	Timed Events
Area D	ay Type Any day Edit Close
<u>R</u> ooms	Add Weekend Calendar
Room 1	Fdit Sunrise Event
P	Sungi Edit
	Add Time Before OK
	CAfter Cancel Remove
<u>T</u> im	e of d Edit
<u>A</u> dd Op <u>e</u> n	Add Macro
Timed Events	Recall Preset Macro Remove
Macros	Sunset
Macro 1 Macro 2	Add
	Bemoye
	Periodic
A <u>d</u> d Ed <u>i</u> t —	Bemove
R <u>u</u> n	
	Aiso use events from default day type
Section 1	Section 2 Section 3
For Help, press F1	NUM

- A. Enter the hour and minute before or after sunrise event should occur.
- B. Select [Before] or [After].
- C. Select event type. See "Event types" on page 69.
- D. Select [Ok]

▼ Time of day - Time of day events are activated at the programmed time of day.

Unison Light Manager - MAN File Edit Help File Edit Help File Edit Time Rooms Rooms Rooms Rooms Add Den Jime of Add Jime of Add Macros	UALCFG d Events ype Meekday Weekend Wonday Edit Time UDay Event u d d Macro Recall Pres	Edit Edit DK OK Cancel et <u>Macro</u>	Close Calendar Edit Bemove Edit	_ 5 X
Add Edit Add	dic dic Also use events from Section 2	default day type Section 3	Remove Edit Remove	
For Help, press F1				NUM

- A. Enter the hour and minute event should occur.
- B. Select **am** or **pm**.
- C. Select event type. See "Event types" on page 69.
- D. Select [Ok].
- Sunset Sunset events are activated based on the programmed relation to the calculated sunset.

Unison Light Manager - MANUAL.CFG Eile Edit Help	_ 8 X
Edit Timed Events	
LRoom I Day Type Any day ▲ Edit Close Booms Add Weekend Calendar	X
P Sunji Add Hour Min. C Before CAfter Cancel Bemove	
Add Open Time of d Edit: Imed Events Add Macro Edit: Macros Recall Preset Macro Bemove	
Sunget Add Bemove	
Add Edit Add Edit Add Edit Bemove	
Also use events from default day type	
Section I Section 2 Section 3	
For Help, press F1	NUM

- A. Enter the hour and minute, before or after sunset event should occur.
- B. Select [Before] or [After].
- C. Select event type. See "Event types" on page 69.
- D. Select [Ok].

▼ Periodic - Periodic events are activated on a programmed interval.

F	Unison Light Manageı	- MANUAL.CFG	_ 8 ×
Eil	e <u>E</u> dit <u>H</u> elp		
Ø	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	Room 1	Edit Timed Events	
F	Area	Day Type Any day Edit Close	
	Rooms	Add Weekend Calendar	
	Room 1	Edit Periodic Event	
P		Sungi Hour Min Edit	
		Add Period :	
		Cancel Remove	
		Time of d	
	Add Op <u>e</u> n	Add Macro	
	Timed Events	Recall Preset Macro Remove	
	<u>M</u> acros	Sun <u>s</u> et Edit	
	Macro 1 Macro 2	Add	
		Remove	
		Periodic E dit	
		Add	
		Remove	
	R <u>u</u> n	Also use events from default day type	
	-		
	Section 1	Section 2 Section 3	
'			
Er	ar Help, press F1		NUM
			i tom

- A. Enter the hour and minute interval between events.
- B. Select event type.
- C. Select [OK].
- 3. Repeat steps one and two for each event in all used day types.
- Also use events from default day types check this box if you have programmed a special event, yet also want typical or standard events to occur.

Event types

T

Recall Preset Activates a pre-recorded preset. When selected as an event the **Recall Preset** Screen appears.

Edit Timed	Events		×
<u>D</u> ау Тур	e Any day Weekday	▲ Edit	Close
Add	Weekend		<u>C</u> alendar
	Recall Preset		
Sun <u>r</u> i	<u>R</u> oom	Room 1	ок 🗌
Add	Section	Section 1	Cancel
<u>T</u> ime of d	<u>P</u> reset	Preset 1	H
Add	<u>L</u> evel	100	E
	<u>M</u> ode	Last Action	
Sun≰	Pr <u>i</u> ority	10 (default)	P
Add	<u>F</u> ade Time	0:05	
<u>P</u> eriod			Fi
Add			Remove
	Also use	events from default day type	

- a. Enter the room name the event will affect from the pull down options:
 - In the same room in all rooms
 - One room name from the room list.
- b. Enter the section name from the pull down menu options:
 - In all sections
 - One section name from the section list.
- c. Select preset to recall.
- d. Enter desired intensity level.
- e. Enter desired preset activation mode. The four preset activation modes are:

• *Last Action* – Activates the last selected preset. All previously selected presets are de-activated except Pile-on.

• *Pile-On* – Activates a selected preset. The levels reflect the highest level of any activated preset. Previously selected presets are not de-activated.

• Last Action Override – Activates the last selected preset. De-activates all other selected presets including Pile-on.

• *Deactivate* – Unselects the selected preset.

- f. Enter the priority level. This assigns relative priority or importance to control selection based on levels 1-10 (10 is the default priority, 1 is the highest level priority).
- g. Enter Fade Time from 0.00 to 1,000 hours.
- h. Click [OK].

Macro

▼

Activates pre-recorded macro. When selected as a event the Macro List is displayed.

- a. Highlight the desired Macro.
- b. Click [OK].
Saving, loading and transferring configurations

Once you have written your system configuration, it is important that it be saved and then loaded or transferred to the Unison processor.

Type 2 systems are supported by software versions 1.4 and higher. Version1.6 is the latest release of this software. Type 2 systems use CME or CME(d) processors. These systems use 3.5" diskettes for data transfer.

Type 3 is supported only by versions 1.5 and higher. This type uses a Serial (PC connector) or 3.5" diskettes to transfer configuration information to and from control processors.

Type 4 systems are supported only by version 1.6 software. This type allows you to transfer configuration information through an Ethernet connection, PC interface or 3.5" diskettes.

To save Type 2 Light Manager configurations

From PC to 3.5" disk

- 1. Insert a 3.5" disk into your A: drive.
- 2. From the [File] menu, select Save As...
- 3. Enter the file name and select the A: drive.
- 4. Click [OK].

From 3.5" diskette to Unison Processor

- 1. Insert a 3.5" diskette into the control module disk drive.
- 2. From the control module keypad, scroll to [Load from Disk]. Press [Enter].
- 3. Select the configuration you wish to load into the control module and press [Enter].



Note: Two bitmap files are automatically created and saved as well: lcdfont0.bmp and lcdgrafx.bmp.

To transfer Type 2 Light Manager configurations using 3.5" diskette

From Unison Processor to 3.5" diskette

- 1. Insert a 3.5" disk into the control module disk drive.
- 2. From the control module keypad, use the up and down keys to scroll to [Save to Disk]. Press [Enter].
- 3. Press [Enter] and choose your configuration file name that you wish to save on a disk and press [Enter].

From 3.5" diskette to your PC

- 1. Insert 3.5" diskette into A: drive.
- 2. Select **Open** from the [File] menu.
- 3. Select drive A: and the file name.
- 4. Click [OK].

To transfer Type2 - Type 4 Light Manager configurations using PC connector station

From your PC to the Unison processor

1. Insert PC serial cable into PC Connector station



Note: Light Manager cannot be running when you make the serial connection.

- 2. Open Light Manager, then select **Save to Serial Unison Processor** from the File menu.
- 3. Light Manager displays a progress dialog box.

From the Unison processor to your PC

- 1. Insert PC serial cable into PC connector station.
- 2. In Light Manager, select **Load from Serial Unison Processor** from the File menu.
- 3. Light Manager displays progress dialog boxes. Configuration will be opened as an untitled configuration.

To transfer Type 4 Light Manager configurations using an Ethernet connection

1. To send configuration data to a specific processor, from the **File** menu select **Save to Networked Unison Processor...**

...or

- 2. To send configuration data to all processors connected to the network, form the **File** menu select **Save to Online Networked Unison Processors...**
- 3. Light Manager displays a progress dialog box.

Printing configurations

To print the information in your configuration, press F12. This will create a file called "Config.txt" in the same folder that has the Lightman.exe file. This file contains the number of Presets, Rooms, Zones, Stations and Station ID numbers. Once the file has been created, you can double click on the Config.txt file to open it. If you need to print information on more than one configuration, save each ".txt" file with a different name. Otherwise you will replace the file each time you save.

🖉 Config - Notepad			_ 8 ×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>S</u> earch <u>H</u> elp			
Filename: C:\PROGRA~1\ETC\LIGH	TM~1.6\MANUA	L.CFG	
Name: Manual configuration			
Number:			
Location: Middleton			
Engineer:			
800m "800m 1"			
Section "Section 1"			
	T	TN - 0000 1711 5404	
Station "Presets"	Type: 100	IV: 0000-4744-5101	
Station "LCD"	Tupe: 800	IV: 0000-5050-7051 ID: 0000-4000-0004	
Zopo "Zopo 1"	туре: 1100 рму. 4	ID: 0000-0209-0901	
	DMX - 2		
Zone "Zone 3"	DMX · 3		
	01111.0		
Section "Section 2"			
Station "Presets"	Type: 100	ID: 0000-6241-4301	
Station "Faders"	Туре: 800	ID: 0000-6078-2501	
Station "LCD"	Type: 1100	ID: 0000-7315-1856	
Zone "Zone 1"	лмх-ы		
Zone "Zone 2"	DMX · 5		
Zone "Zone 3"	DMX: 6		
	<i></i>		
Section "Section 3"			-
1			Þ

Chapter 4 Advanced System Programming

In larger or more complex systems, Light Manager can be used to program a variety of elements designed to customize system operation. Advanced elements include lockout/visibility levels, preset priorities, templates, and networked system operation.

Lockout values

Lockout values are used to provide electronic security for your lighting control system. A numeric value between 0-100 may be assigned to each station and each component on a station. The default station lockout level is 0. This value may be re-programmed in the station property screen or via a macro sequence step. Component lockout values are programmed in Light Manager by right clicking on the desired component and entering the lockout value. Default component lockout values are:

Fader/Preset Reca	Il Station	LCD Station		
Off button	90	Preset page	80	
Preset recall	80	Zone Page	50	
Manual button	60	Fader/button	40	
Master fader	60	Wall page	40	
Zone fader	40	Custom page	40	
Record button	20	Record	20	

Single components or complete stations may be locked out based on station lockout levels and component lockout values. When the station lockout level is higher than one of its component lockout values, that component will be "locked out" and will not work. If a button is locked out, you will see the LED flash quickly. The station lockout level will be displayed in the station window title bar.

When an LCD page is "locked out" the system displays a security key pad. The page may be unlocked with the entry of the unlock code. Unlock codes are programmed in the LCD page property screen. The unlock code is a one to four digit number. The default unlock code is 0. The page will re-lock when a different LCD page is selected.

Visibility levels

Visibility levels are used to provide additional security for your LCD touch screen. A numeric value between 0-100 may be assigned to each LCD page or component. This level may be re-programmed in the page property screen or by right clicking on any component. When the station lockout level is higher than a page or component visibility level, that LCD page or component will no longer be displayed.

The default visibility levels are:

LCD Station

Preset page	80	Wall page	40
Zone Page	50	Custom page	40

Preset priorities

Preset Priorities are an advanced station property used to establish the relative priority or importance of a control selection based on levels from 1-10 (1 having highest priority, 10 having lowest). Stations with higher priority levels override (take control from) presets activated from devices with lower priority levels. This feature is commonly used to program time clock override stations.

- 1. Right click the desired station.
- 2. Press and hold the control [Ctrl] key while selecting [Properties] from the displayed menu. The advanced Station Properties screen will appear.

🔄 Unison Light Manager - MAI	NUAL.CFG		
<u>File Edit Room Section W</u>	all <u>P</u> reset <u>S</u> tation <u>Z</u> one	Help	
	Station Properties	×	
	<u>N</u> ame <u>Presets</u> ☐ <u>P</u> ortable Station ☑ Enable Off Tog ☐ Zone Select Dir	n Cancel gle < P <u>r</u> evious	×
Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset	t <u>I</u> D Priority 10 (default) 💌	Ne <u>x</u> t >	
Presets Faders LCD	Lockout Level O Station controls at or below be locked out.	the station lockout level wi ll	
	Active Template	Add Edit Bemove	
	To customize the functional click on the button or fader and select a function from th	elected template is active. ity of a pushbutton or fader, using the right mouse button he pop-up menu.	
Section 1	Section 2	Section 3	
Fader Function: Zone "Zone 3"			
Fauer Function. Zone "Zone 3"			MUM

- 3. Enter the station property elements as described in the *"To modify station properties"* on page 16.
- 4. Enter desired preset priority level.



Note: To deactivate the override condition, select the specific preset button a second time.

5. Select the [Close] button.



Note: Stations with higher preset priority level (set closer to 1) override functions of station with lower levels (closer to 10). Carefully detail all station preset priority levels during setup. Area lighting will reflect levels set at the station with the highest programmed priority level.

Example: A lighting system is designed with an automatic astro-timeclock operation of atrium lighting. The timeclock is programmed to activate preset 1 "Morning" at 6:30am, preset 2 "Day" at 12:00 noon and preset 3 "Night" at 5:30pm. On various, non scheduled occasions, the atrium of the facility is used at night for community activities requiring manual control of the lighting. A manual override station is located in the atrium control closet. Timeclock presets are programmed with a priority level of 10 while the override station is programmed with a preset priority of 8. When activated, the override station will take control of area lighting from the timeclock. The override condition remains in effect until deactivated from the override station. Deactivate the override by selecting the button a second time or programming a "restore to previous settings" macro. See *"Programming Macro sequences"* on page 55 for more information.

Zone properties

The **Link Code** is an advanced feature of Zone/Dimmer Properties which allows you to specify a master/slave configuration. Master numbers are always 10, 20, 30, up to 120 and so on. A zone master always masters the next 9 zones.

To use this function, hold down the [Ctrl] button while selecting **Zone/Dimmer Load Properties**.

Example: A zone with a Link Code of 10 will master any zones with a Link Code between 11-19. Zones with a property of 21-29... will be mastered by a zone with a Link Code of 20 and so forth.

Zone / Dimmer Loa	d Properties 🛛 🗙
Zone <u>N</u> ame	Zone 1
DMX Input Mode	Replace Link Code
	✓ Link when Sections combined 256
Dimmers	
N <u>u</u> mbers	1
Inpu <u>t</u> Patch	LiteCom
Ma <u>x</u> imum Level	100
M <u>i</u> nimum Level	0 🗌 Use 0 for <u>0</u> ff
<u>M</u> ax. Fade Rate	<pre><none></none></pre>
Load	
N <u>a</u> me	
	I <u>c</u> on Standard
< <u>P</u> revious	Next > OK Cancel



Note: Using Link Codes to provide master/slave zones is the preferred method of controlling multiple zones on a fader.

Station templates

Templates are station properties that refer to a specific set of programmed component functions. Light Manager supports the programming of multiple "templates" for each control station. For example, a five button station is programmed to select the default presets 1-4 and off. Via a macro, the station programming or template may be changed to select presets 5-8 and off. It is important to note that the large station graphic always displays the default template legending. The active template name is indicated in the title bar on the graphic station.

To add a station template

1. Right click on station and select [properties].

Station Pro	perties	×
<u>N</u> ame	Presets	ОК
	 	Cancel
	✓ Enable <u>O</u> ff Toggle ✓ Zana Salaat Diraat ahawa Laval	< Previous
10		Ne <u>x</u> t >
ĪD		
Lockout		
<u>L</u> evel	0 🔻	
Station of be locke	controls at or below the station lockou d out.	ıt level will
Active <u>T</u>	emplate	
	Default	
	<u>E</u> dit	
	<u>R</u> emove	
Template for contr	es allow having multiple sets of functions of some station. Selected template is	onality active.
To custo click on and sele	mize the functionality of a pushbuttor the button or fader using the right mo ct a function from the pop-up menu.) or fader, use button

2. Select Add from the Active Template Section.

Template			×
<u>N</u> ame	Night		
	ОК	Cancel	

- 3. Enter the new template name.
- 4. Select the [OK] button.

To activate alternate template

1. Right click on station and select [Properties].

Station Pro	perties	×
<u>N</u> ame	Presets	OK
	<u> Portable Station</u>	Cancel
	∀ Enable <u>O</u> ff Toggle	
	☐ Zone Select Direct shows Level	Nexts
<u>I</u> D		Ne <u>x</u> t >
- Lockout		
<u>L</u> evel	0 💌	
Station of be locke	controls at or below the station lockou d out.	ıt level will
Active <u>T</u>	emplate	
	Default Add	
Template for contr	es allow having multiple sets of functions of a station. Selected template is	onality s active.
To custo click on and sele	mize the functionality of a pushbuttor the button or fader using the right mo ct a function from the pop-up menu.	n or fader, Juse button

- 2. Highlight desired template.
- 3. Select [OK]. The graphic station title bar displays the name of the alternate template.

🏙 Presets - Night 👘	X
Durant	
Front	
Prorot2	
Prorot3	
Ö	
Prosot 4	
Off	
\Box	

Station templates may also be activated either by a Macro or Time Clock event.

To program alternate templates

- 1. Activate desired template using the steps above.
- 2. Program the station as detailed in *"Programming control stations"* on page 26.

Cross-station control

Cross-station control allows you to assign host or master functionality of components from one station to another station. This is useful when programming large custom stations.

For example, if you use two 10-fader stations to control a 20-zone room, you could have the Record or Master fader functions hosted or mastered at one station to control both.

To program cross station control

- 1. Double click the "slave" (or controlled) station.
- 2. Select the "host" (or mastering) station. Do not open this station.



3. Press [Ctrl] and right click on the desired component. The function list is displayed.

4. Select **Host this control**. Possible host stations will be displayed.

MANUAL.CFG		_ 8 X
File Edit Room Section Wall Preset Station Zon	e <u>H</u> elp	
Room 1		
Faders - Section 1 Faders - Section 1 Faters - Section 1 Marter Zens1 Zens2 Zens3 Pre Marter Zens1 Zens2 Zens3	Preset Recall Preset Recall (hard off) Preset Toggle Off Manual Record Raise Lower Wall Open Wall Close Wall Toggle	Lockout Toggle Lockout Direct Zone Bump Direct Zone Select Toggle Zone Select Direct Selection Bump Toggle Selection Bump Toggle w/ Clear Selection Bump Direct Zone Group Toggle
	Wall Direct	Macro Macro Toggle Macro Direct
Presets Faders - Se	ection 1	Lockout Level
Section 1	antine 2. Decede Cardier 2.	
✓ Room I, S	ection 3, Presets-Section 3	Host this control
Button Function: Lower Legend "Hosting"		Hold down button

Note: For full station mastering, change Step 4 to select **Host all controls**.

- 5. Select host (or mastering) station.
- 6. Repeat for all slave stations.

Advanced LCD features

The standard LCD Menu page lets you access the architectural processor menu.

To operate the Menu screen

1. Press the up and down arrows to scroll options. Options are displayed in brackets.

📆 LCD		×
	Prese Zone Walls Menu Exit Unison Me(v1.65.012) [Setup] Enter	

- 2. Press enter to select an option.
 - Setup Allows you to set up the primary system functions listed below.
 - Stations Allows you to connect and disconnect stations to the architectural processor.
 - Zones Allows you to set zone level, add or delete dimmers and to define zone by zone DMX input mode. (Replace, Snapshot, Pileon, Pass through, Master, Replace if on, Pass through if on and Pass through if active.)
 - Presets Allows you to view and record preset fade times and activate and record system presets.
 - Walls- Allows you to open or close walls in any room.
 - Load Net Backup Loads configuration over network in special Master controlled applications.
 - Date/Time Sets system parameters including year, month, date, hour and minute.
 - Location Enters local longitude and latitude settings for astronomical time clock features.
 - Format Disk– Formats a 3.5" diskette.
 - Processor/Address- shows the IP address for all computers and processors currently in the configuration.
 - Information Lists system configuration counts and memory sizes.
 - ▼ Save to Disk Saves current Unison configuration to a 3.5" diskette.
 - Load from Disk Allows you to retrieve Unison configuration from a 3.5" diskette.

T	Diagnostics -	Performs	a varietv	of s	vstem	diagnostics	
•	Diagnostics -	Fenomis	a variety	01.5	ystern	ulaynostics.	

 N	
`>	
γ.	

Note: Listed below are advanced diagnostic procedures. Only a trained Light Manager operator should attempt to run these.

- Run Macro Runs selected Macro.
- Stop Macro Stops selected Macro.
- Dimmers Shows levels of input and output DMX512 and EDMX levels.
- Stations Shows which stations are in use.
- All zones off Turns all active zones off.
- Initialize flash Erase flash memory of processor.
- Update software Uploads currents version of software from a PCMCIA card. (UPSAC systems **only**)
- Send object model Sends configuration over network in special Master controlled applications.
- 3. Press [exit] to back up one step in the menu structure



Note: For more details or flowcharts of control module menus, see the *Unison ER* and *DR Installation Guide*.

Limiting LCD Access

By creating station templates, you can restrict access to certain LCD screens and functions. For more information about creating station template see *"Station templates"* on page 78.

When a lockout code is entered on an LCD keypad page, if it matches the code of an alternate template, that template becomes active,

Follow these steps to create a sample LCD template with limited access. If you need more information to perform any of the following, see "*LCD stations*" on page 32.

- 1. Double click an LCD station.
- 2. Add a custom page to this station and name it "Login".

🛤 LCD		×
	Login	
	<u>ی</u> 789	
	∛ 4 5 6	
	0 1 2 3	

3. Under **Edit Page**, set the new page's lockout value to 0.

Page Prope	ities 🛛 🗶
<u>N</u> ame	Login
When the will be dis	station lockout level is at or above this value, this page abled
Lockout V	alue 🔲 💌

- 4. Delete all other pages.
- 5. In Station Properties, create a new template with a four digit or less numerical name. (e.g., 1234)

Template			×
<u>N</u> ame	1234		
	ОК	Cancel	

Keep that template highlighted, close that window and open the LCD station. Notice the LCD's name has changed, reflecting the templates name. 7. Add a standard page to the station.

Security Login	Add Standard Page Add Custom Page Edit Page Set as Timeout page Move Page to Left Move Page to Right Remove Page

8. Create another station template with another numerical name.

Template			×
<u>N</u> ame	3456		
	OK	Cancel	

- 9. Add a different standard page to that station.
- 10. Set the station template back to **Default**.
- 11. Open the LCD station, right click on "Login" and select **Set as Timeout Page**".



Now, if you enter the code (name) for one of the templates, the screen will change to that template. If you wait for the timeout, it will return to "Login".

You can also create a custom page with a macro button, that when activated will return the LCD station back to the default template. From there you will see the security keypad and enter the appropriate template code.

🅫 LCD - 1234	4 ×	I
	Presel Security	
	Login	
L		

Edit Macro		×
Name Return to Login		ОК
Station Property 'Template'='Default' in	n <all rooms=""> 🛛 📃</all>	Cancel
		<u>A</u> dd Step
		Edit Step
		<u>C</u> opy Step
		Rem <u>o</u> ve Step
		<u>R</u> un Step
	Y	Move <u>U</u> p
	Þ	Move <u>D</u> own
Multiple Instances Allowed	Number of Iterations	

DMX512 Input Macros

By holding down the [Ctrl] key while pressing F12, you can open a dialog box that allows DMX input macros to be programmed.

DMX Input Ma	CLOS	×
Input Aquire	S	et
Input Loss	S	et
<u>D</u> immer	0	
On	S	et
Off	S	et
	OK Cancel	

There are two types of input macros; acquisition or loss of DMX512 and by a single DMX512 channel activation.

The first type works on Acquire/Loss of DMX512. This would entail creating two different macros for either situation. When a valid DMX512 input signal is sensed the first macro is run. When the DMX512 signal is no longer sensed, the second macro is run. This is very useful for functions that are tied into activation of a console, like changing DMX input modes or locking out all but the specific stations.

The second type of DMX input macro is activated by a single DMX512 value. When that value goes above 0, the first macro will run. When it goes back to 0, the second macro will run. The DMX512 value that this trigger is set on the dialog box above.



Note: Some consoles do not output a true DMX "0", and will not be able to use this feature.

Access - Securing Light Manager configurations

In systems with direct serial input stations, it may be desirable to limit system functions available through Light Manager.

1. Select Access from the File pull down menu. The **password** screen will appear. Enter only pre-programmed passwords in displayed field. If a password has never been programmed select the [OK] button. The **Access** window will be displayed.

Access		×
Access Level © Full Access © <u>R</u> educed Access	<u>S</u> ettings	
Change <u>P</u> assword]	Close

2. Select Full Access if no user limitations are required.

OR

2. Select Reduced Access if user limitations are required.

System Access 🛛 🗶
Checked functions will be available in reduced access mode.
Save Configuration
Auto disable Save when configuration loaded
Copen Configuration / Load from Unison processor
Save to Unison processor
Live Control Toggle
Auto activate Live Control when configuration loaded
Add / Edit Macros
Remove Macros
Add Rooms, Sections, Walls, Presets, Zones, Stations
Remove Rooms, Sections, Walls, Presets, Zones, Stations
Move Sections, Walls, Presets, Zones, Stations
Edit Room / Section / Wall Properties
Edit Preset Properties
Edit Zone Properties
Edit Station Properties
Edit Station Functions
Open Stations
Add / Edit Timed Events
Remove Limed Events Cancel
Edit Flicker

- Select the [Settings] button to detail system limitations. The System Access window will be displayed.
- Check the functions required in reduced access mode. Those functions not checked will be unavailable.
- ▼ Select the [OK] button to return to the **Access** window.
- 3. Select the [change password] button to program or change Access password. Password must be 1-20 alpha numeric characters. The system will require verification entry of password.



Note: It is important to document programmed passwords for future reference to prevent accidental lockout. The **Job Information** notes under the File menu may be a good place to store these.

4. Select the [OK] button.

Chapter 5 Understanding Network Systems

Unison utilizes the ETCNet2 Ethernet protocol (EDMX), which allows several different types of DMX512 devices to negotiate dimmer control. In most cases there are more than 512 dimmers to control and Unison is "sharing" the network with an ETC Obsession control console. Since there are more than 512 dimmers and 512 DMX values, a second (or more) architectural processor (CMEi) is added to the network. The CMEi(s) can send and receive both DMX512 and EDMX. Between these two facets of a network, DMX512 and EDMX levels can be received, sent and redirected throughout all devices connected to the network.

Unison networked systems are comprised of multiple architectural processors linked together on an Ethernet network. The CMEi architectural processor supports termination of UTP (10Base-T) or ST style Fiber Optic 10Base-FL wiring. Linked in this manner, system nodes share commands and information including preset activate, preset record, preset fade time, zone levels, macro activate, stop macro, stop all macros, wall state and time.

Additionally, any CMEi processor may have control of any DMX512 value on a DMX-out port of another CMEi via the EDMX protocol. This DMX512 value corresponds to a specific dimmer which in turn controls the light(s). You have the option of taking control of any dimmer in the system, regardless of "who" had control of it previously. Obsession and Unison work together to assign and reassign dimmer control through the CMEi processors, nodes, consoles and any other device with the ability to send DMX512 levels.

In networked systems, just one configuration is built that will be split up for control by each architectural processor (CMEi) on the network.



Setting up a networked Unison configuration

Using the example on the facing page, the configuration has been planned and laid out to include four different rooms, each having it's own ER4 processor (CMEi) and Unison stations for zone control. The processors and computer are connected the network via Ethernet. The processors will each have their own "universe" of DMX or EDMX. The stations are connected to the ER4 processors via the Unison Link Power protocol.

Follow these steps to create a four-room network Unison Configuration.

1. Begin a new configuration and use the **Room Wizard** to create four rooms.

·		_
	elp	9 ×
	Room 2	×
		Ī
Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset 4 Off	Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset 4 Off	
11 2 7127 1 <u>1</u>	III I TAT II	
Presets Faders	Presets Faders	
		×
Property Report 2 Property Off		
Presel Presel Presel + UI	Preset 1 Preset 2 Preset 3 Preset 4 Off	
E TUTE Presets Forders		
Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3	Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3	
For Help, press F1	N	UM.
Note: In the Room Wizard-Zones	dialog, change the Start DMX	or
$P_{\text{norm}} 2 = 512$		
ROOIII 2 = 513		
Room $3 = 1025$		
B 4 4505		
Room 4 = 1537		
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones	×	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones	ele) te be placed	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channel in each section, and the starting D	els) to be placed DMX channel:	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channel in each section, and the starting D	els) to be placed DMX channel:	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channel in each section, and the starting D Number of Zones 1 Star	els) to be placed DMX channel: rt DMX 513 💌	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channed in each section, and the starting D <u>N</u> umber of Zones <u>N</u> umber of Zones <u>Note:</u> Some wall stations will creat	els) to be placed DMX channel: rt DMX 513 T te more 512	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channelin each section, and the starting D <u>N</u> umber of Zones 1 <u>N</u> umber of Zones 1 Star Note: Some wall stations will creat as needed, if they have zone fader	els) to be placed DMX channel: rt DMX 513 1 te more 513 rs. 1025	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channed in each section, and the starting D <u>N</u> umber of Zones <u>1</u> <u>S</u> tar Note: Some wall stations will creat as needed, if they have zone fader	els) to be placed DMX channel: rt DMX 513 V te more ers. 1 1025 1537	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channed in each section, and the starting D <u>N</u> umber of Zones <u>1</u> <u>S</u> tar Note: Some wall stations will creat as needed, if they have zone fade When you press "Finish." yo	els) to be placed DMX channel: rt DMX 513 • te more ers. 1025 1537 2049 pur room 2561	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channed in each section, and the starting D <u>N</u> umber of Zones 1 Star Note: Some wall stations will creat as needed, if they have zone fade When you press "Finish," yo will be built and configured	els) to be placed DMX channel: rt DMX 513 • te more 513 rs. 1025 1537 2049 pur room 2561 for you, 3073 3605	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channed in each section, and the starting D Number of Zones Number of Zones Note: Some wall stations will creat as needed, if they have zone fade When you press "Finish," yo will be built and configured to the start of the s	els) to be placed DMX channel: It DMX 513 • te more 513 1025 1537 2049 pur room 2561 for you, 3073 3585 4097	
Room 4 = 1537 Room Wizard - Zones Enter the number of zones (channed in each section, and the starting D Number of Zones 1 Star Note: Some wall stations will creat as needed, if they have zone fade When you press "Finish," yo will be built and configured to will be built and configured to the started built and config	els) to be placed DMX channel: rt DMX 513 • te more 513 • ers. 1025 1537 2049 pur room 2561 3073 3585 4097 4609	

 In each Room, you will need to select which processor(s) will be controlling that Room. The default setting is Automatic based on DMXout port usage.

Room Prop	erties	×
<u>N</u> ame	Room 1	•
⊠ Mimic	LCD page changes	
Which	processor is this room controlled by?	
• <u>A</u> ut	tomatic based on DMX-out port usage	
С <u>М</u> а	nual	
<u>О М</u> <u>и</u>	ltiple	
Proce Proce Proce	issor 1 Issor 2 Issor 3 Issor 4	
	OK Cancel	

If you want to select a different processor, select **Manual**. If more than one processor will be controlling that Room, select **Multiple** and highlight the appropriate processors.

3. Under the File Menu, open the **Network Settings** dialog and do the following:

etwork Settings				
System				OF
Node status multicast l	P address	236.1.0.2		UK
EDMY administration m	ultionat ID addres	236103		
CDMA agministration m	uncast in addres	200.1.0.5	_	
Mimi <u>c</u> multicast IP add	ess	236.1.0.5		
Unison Serial Access F	rotocol Baud Rat	te 9600	-	
🗆 Enable ETC Link				
Processors				
Name		IP address	EDMX data	DMX-out start
Computer		10.10.10.31*	0.0.0.0	PC 🔺
Processor 1		10.10.1.32	236.1.0.39	1
Processor 2		10.10.1.33	236.1.0.40	513
Processor 3		10.10.1.34	236.1.0.41	1025
Processor 4		10.10.1.35	236.1.0.42	1537
Processor 5				
Processor 6				
Processor 7				
Processor 8				
Processor 9				
Processor TU				
Processor 12				-
11000330112				
<u>N</u> ame		IP address	EDMX <u>d</u> ata IP	DMX- <u>o</u> ut start
Processor 1		10.10.1.32	236.1.0.39	513 💌
				✓ Local Priority
	Get Stn ID's	IP <u>m</u> ask		Include in EDMX
i comp <u>a</u> ter (i c)		255.0.0.0	Set All	
Marsian				DMX-in start
Version. Online:		IP gateway		1
Offine.		10111	Set All	
Unine:			JECAI	Local Priority
Reboot				

- ✓ Highlight Computer and ensure that the Enabled and Computer (PC) boxes are checked.
- ▼ Other processors may not be enabled. To enable, highlight those processor names, and check the **Enabled** box. Their information can now be viewed.
- ▼ You may need to change the IP addresses for the computer and processors. Highlight each component and manually type in the correct address in the **IP address** box.

To set processor network addresses

The following section outlines the network settings for a single or multiple processor system. Many of the options default to a setting that will enable you to set up your system quickly and easily.

If you require a more extensive networked configuration, such as customized IP addresses, or connecting your Unison network to an external network, you will need to contact ETC.



Note: When 1.6 External Architectural Control (EAC) Code is installed into a processor, the processor defaults to being a computer in the Network Settings. Each networked processor must be manually set at it's face panel to a unique processor address (e.g. Processor 3).

 In the Light Manager configuration, go to the [File] pull down menu and select Network settings. The **Network Settings** dialog will be displayed.

letwork Settings			×
System			
Node <u>s</u> tatus multicast IP address	236.1.0.2		
EDMX administration multicast IP addres	s 236.1.0.3		
Mimi <u>c</u> multicast IP address	236.1.0.5		
Unison Serial Access Protocol Baud Rate	e 9600		
Enable ETC Link			
Processors			
Name	IP address	EDMX data	DMX-out start
Computer	10.10.10.31*	0.0.0	PC 🔺
Processor 1	10.10.1.32	236.1.0.39	1
Processor 2	10.10.1.33	236.1.0.40	513
Processor 3	10.10.1.34	236.1.0.41	1025
Processor 4	10.10.1.35	236.1.0.42	1537
Processor 5			
Processor 6			
Processor 7			
Processor 8			
Processor 9			
Processor 10			
Processor 11			
Processor 12			
Name	IP address	EDMX <u>d</u> ata IP	DMX- <u>o</u> ut start
Processor 1	10.10.1.32	236.1.0.39	513 💌
			V Local Prioritu
Get Stn ID's	IP mask		
Computer (PC)	255.0.0.0	Set All	
	200.0.0.0	JECAN	
Version:			
Online:	IP gateway		1 -
Offline:	10.1.1.1	Set All	Local Priority
<u>R</u> eboot			

The following **Multicast Addresses** are used to send a single message to many on-line devices. In Unison network systems, these messages are used to determine which processors are on line, who is in control of an EDMX channel and to broadcast commands to networked processors. Changing these addresses will cause multicast messages to be lost and processors to respond randomly at best

- Node status multicast IP address: The IP multicast address is used to determine which processors and PCs are online. <u>This address should</u> remain at its default setting.
- ▼ EDMX administration multicast IP address: The IP multicast address is used for EDMX administration. <u>This address should remain at its default</u> <u>setting</u>.
- ▼ Mimic multicast IP address: The IP multicast address is used for Unison Mimic protocol. <u>This address should remain at its default setting</u>.
- ▼ Unison Serial Access Protocol Baud Rate (USAP): Allows setting the speed of the USAP interface.

USAP is a communication protocol that allows a device capable of outputting RS-232 protocol to interface with a Unison Lighting Control System. USAP is a "polled" system, meaning that it accepts commands from a transmitter and provides status when queried.

- ▼ Enable ETCLink: Check this box if you want the capability to send and receive Sensor ETCLink information through the control processors. If you are using this function, please contact ETC.
- ▼ **Reboot**: Allows you to reboot a processor from within Light Manager. You must select the processor then [Reboot].
- ▼ **Processors**: Lists the processors and PCs used in the configuration. Select a processor to see its properties in the fields below.

Computer 10.10.10.31* 0.0.0.0 PC A Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 1 A Processor 2 10.10.1.33 236.1.0.40 513 A Processor 3 10.10.1.34 236.1.0.41 1025 Processor 4 10.10.1.35 236.1.0.42 1537 Processor 5 Processor 6 Processor 7 Processor 7 Processor 7 Processor 10 Processor 10 Processor 11 Processor 12 Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Processor 1 IO.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 V Enabled Get Stn ID's IP mask V Local Priority Include in EDMX ID Processor 4 ID I		IP address	EDMX data	DMX-out start
Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 1 Processor 2 10.10.1.33 236.1.0.40 513 Processor 3 10.10.1.34 236.1.0.41 1025 Processor 4 10.10.1.35 236.1.0.42 1537 Processor 6 10.10.1.35 236.1.0.42 1537 Processor 7 Processor 7 10.10.1.35 236.1.0.42 1537 Processor 7 Processor 7 Processor 10 Processor 10 Processor 11 Processor 12 IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start V Enabled Get Stn ID's IP mask V Local Priority Include in EDMX Include in EDMX Include in EDMX	Computer	10.10.10.31*	0.0.0.0	PC A
Processor 2 10.10.1.33 236.1.0.40 513 Processor 3 10.10.1.34 236.1.0.41 1025 Processor 4 10.10.1.35 236.1.0.42 1537 Processor 5 10.10.1.35 236.1.0.42 1537 Processor 6 Processor 7 Processor 7 Processor 9 Processor 10 Processor 11 Processor 12 IP address EDMX data IP DMX-gut start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 Image: 10 mask V Enabled Get Stn ID's IP mask V Local Priority Include in EDMX	Processor 1	10.10.1.32	236.1.0.39	1 1
Processor 3 10.10.1.34 236.1.0.41 1025 Processor 4 10.10.1.35 236.1.0.42 1537 Processor 6 Processor 7 10.10.1.35 236.1.0.42 1537 Processor 7 Processor 8 Processor 9 Processor 10 Processor 11 Processor 12 IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 V Enabled Get Stn ID's IP mask V Local Priority Include in EDMX Include in EDMX Include in EDMX	Processor 2	10.10.1.33	236.1.0.40	513
Processor 4 10.10.1.35 236.1.0.42 1537 Processor 5 Processor 6 Processor 7 Processor 7 Processor 8 Processor 10 Processor 11 Processor 12 Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 V Enabled Get Stn ID's IP mask V Local Priority Computer (PC) Get Stn ID's IP mask Include in EDMX	Processor 3	10.10.1.34	236.1.0.41	1025 —
Processor 5 Processor 6 Processor 6 Processor 7 Processor 8 Processor 9 Processor 10 Processor 12 Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513< ▼	Processor 4	10.10.1.35	236.1.0.42	1537
Processor 6 Processor 7 Processor 7 Processor 8 Processor 9 Processor 10 Processor 11 Processor 12 Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-gut start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513< ▼	Processor 5			
Processor 7 Processor 8 Processor 9 Processor 10 Processor 12 Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 V Enabled Get Stn ID's IP mask Z55.0.0.0 Set All	Processor 6			
Processor 8 Processor 9 Processor 10 Processor 11 Processor 12 Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 ✓ Enabled Computer (PC) Get Stn ID's IP mask Z55.0.0.0 Set All	Processor 7			
Processor 9 Processor 10 Processor 11 Processor 12 IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 Image: start Image: start start start Image: start start start Image: start start start Image: start start start Image: start sta	Processor 8			
Processor 10 Processor 10 Processor 12 ▼ Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-gut start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 ▼ ✓ Enabled Get Stn ID's IP mask ✓ Local Priority ✓ Include in EDMX	Processor 9			
Processor 11 Processor 12 Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 Image: Colspan="2">Image: Colspan="2" Colspan=	Processor 10			
Processor 12 IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 Image: Start start Image: Start	Processor 11			
Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 ▼ ✓ Enabled Get Stn ID's IP mask ✓ Local Priority Computer (PC) Get Stn ID's IP mask ✓ Include in EDMX	Processor 12			•
Name IP address EDMX data IP DMX-out start Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 Image: Computer (PC) Get Stn ID's IP mask Image: Computer (PC) IP mask Image: Computer (PC)				
Processor 1 10.10.1.32 236.1.0.39 513 ▼ ✓ Enabled Get Stn ID's IP mask ✓ Local Priority Computer (PC) Get Stn ID's IP mask ✓ Local Priority	<u>N</u> ame	IP <u>a</u> ddress	EDMX <u>d</u> ata IP	DMX- <u>o</u> ut start
Image: Style of the style o	Deserves 1	10 10 1 22	000 1 0 00	
Computer (PC) Get Stn ID's IP mask Include in EDM	Flocessor I	10.10.1.32	236.1.0.39	513 💌
Computer (PC) 255.0.0 Set All		10.10.1.32	236.1.0.39	513 ▼ ✓ Local Priority
	Frocessor 1 ✓ Enabled Get Stn ID's	IP <u>m</u> ask	236.1.0.39	513 ✓ Local Priority Include in EDM
DMX-in start	Frocessor 1 Finabled Computer (PC)	IP <u>m</u> ask 255.0.00	Set All	513 ▼ ✓ Local Priority ✓ Include in EDM
Version: IP gateway 1	Findesson Findesson Enabled Computer (PC)	IP <u>m</u> ask 255.0.0.0	Set All	513
	Version:	IP <u>m</u> ask 255.0.0.0	Set All	513
Offline: IU.I.I.1 Set All Local Priority	Image: Frocessor F Image: F Im	IP <u>mask</u> 255.0.0.0 IP gateway	Set All	513 Local Priority Include in EDMA DMX-in start 1
Reboot	Image: Computer (PC) Get Stn ID's Version: Online: Offline: Offline:	IP <u>mask</u> 255.0.0.0 IP gate <u>w</u> ay 10.1.1.1	Set All	513 Local Priority Include in EDM2 DMX-in start Local Priority
	Image: Computer (PC) Get Stn ID's Version: Online: Offline: Beboot	IP <u>m</u> ask 255.0.0.0 IP gate <u>w</u> ay 10.1.1.1	Set All	513 Local Priority Include in EDM2 DMX-in start Local Priority

- ▼ **Name**: The name of the processor or PC. If the processor is currently online, a ">" symbol will appear in front of the name. You can change the name of the processor by clicking in that field and typing the new name.
- ▼ **Enabled**: Only enabled processors are considered part of the configuration. By default, only one processor is enabled in the configuration besides the PC.

To enable more than one processor, highlight that processor and check the **Enabled** box.

- ▼ **Computer (PC)**: Check this box if the network address is used for a PC and not a Unison processor.
- ▼ The [Get Stn ID's] button will cause all of the wallstations connected to the processor to re-connect and update the station ID properties in Light Manager.



Note: Once the configuration is saved, wallstations will automatically bind on subsequent downloads.

Status indicators:

Version: Online: Offline:	1.65.012 04/28/2000 12:07:52 pm
<u>R</u> eboot	

Version: Shows the operating code version in the processor (only shown if the processor is online.)

Online: Shows the last time the processor came online.

Offline: Shows the last time the processor went offline.

IP <u>a</u> ddress 10.10.20.1	EDMX <u>d</u> ata IP 236.1.0.39
IP <u>m</u> ask	1
255.0.0.0	Set All
0.0.0.0	Set All

- ▼ IP address: The IP address of the PC or processor. If you are using a private or closed network, you may use the default settings for each processor you will be using.
- ▼ IP mask: The IP mask of the processor. The chart below shows the different mask classes. The default ETC IP address will always use Class A.

Class A IP addresses: 255.0.0.0

Class B IP addresses: 255.255.0.0

Class C IP addresses: 255.255.255.0

- ▼ IP mask [Set AII]: This sets all the processors to the indicated IP mask. If all the processors are on the same subnet, select [Set AII] to assign them all the same IP mask.
- ▼ IP gateway: The IP address of the gateway or router to other subnetworks. The ETCNet2 protocols, and the Unison mimic protocol can be routed between IP subnetworks, providing the routers support multicast IP (IGMP).



Note: If you are using the default settings, leave the default IP gateway field blank.

Note: If you are routing Unison data through a Hub in your network, the IP gateway should be the same as the processor's IP address.

- ▼ IP gateway [Set All]: This sets all of the processors to the indicated IP gateway. If all the processors are on the same subnet, select [Set All] to assign them all the same IP gateway setting.
- ▼ EDMX data IP: The multicast IP address used for EDMX data distribution from the selected processor. This must be unique for each processor and not used by other EDMX sources or other protocols on the network. You may use the default settings.



▼ **DMX-out start**: The starting EDMX value for the processor's DMX-out port. Notice that if you pull down the menu, the numbers are in increments of 512; however, any number from 1 to 32,256 may be used.

The DMX-out port may also be "split" between two ranges of EDMX values. To do this, enter two numbers separated by a slash ("/"). The first number is used for the first 256 DMX channels, and second for the remaining 256 DMX512 channels. e.g., 1/513.



Note: The second digit must be at least 512 above the first digit.

▼ **DMX-out Local Priority**: If you check this option, the DMX-out port gives priority to the Unison level over the EDMX level. This is useful for DMX Input modes such as Pile-on.

By not setting this option, you are letting the EDMX source control the level.

 Include in EDMX: When checked, this features only enables Unison to accept individual dimmer levels from an ETC Obsession control console. Unison processors do not respond to EDMX from each other. For most networked systems, this option should be checked.

	-

Note: Either **Local Priority** or **Include in EDMX** <u>must</u> be checked in order for the Unison processor to output DMX.

- ▼ **DMX-in start**: The starting EDMX value for the processor's DMX-in port. The levels on the DMX-in port are used for Unison zone input patches and are not automatically output as EDMX.
- ▼ **DMX-in Local Priority**: If a level is available at both the DMX-in port and from EDMX, this setting determines which has priority. If this is checked, the local DMX-in port will be used. If not checked, the EDMX level will be used.

Advanced Network Settings

The Advanced Network Settings dialog is used to override settings or change objects that are visible through the OMM protocol interface.



To open the Advanced Network Settings screen, hold down the Control [Ctrl] key while selecting **Network Settings** under the File menu.

OMM visibility

The Object Model visibility interface is used for ETCLink messages from Sensor racks connected via ETCLink. The OMM visibility gives you the option of which objects you want the CMEi(s) to make available to an OMM client (Master Controller or CUDI).

OMM CID override

The default CID is the last number of a processor's IP address. You would want to override this number only if your network requires it, and then only if you are loading configurations one by one into the networked processors. No two processors on the network should have the same CID.

Once you have changed your CID, save that configuration to a floppy disk and load it into the appropriate processor.

MAC Address override

As with the CID, override this address only if your network requires it, and then only if you are loading configurations one by one into the networked processors. No two processors should have the same MAC address.

Once you have changed your MAC address, save your configuration to a floppy disk and download it to the appropriate processor. The processor will automatically translate the number to Hexadecimal.



Warning: CID and MAC overrides will affect all processors in a configuration.

To set PC network addresses

a. Select Settings/Control Panels from the Windows Start menu. The Control Panel Screen appears.

🔯 Control	Panel				×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit	⊻iew <u>H</u> e	lp			
Accessibility Options	Add New Hardware	Add/Remove Programs	Date/Time	Display	•
Find Fast	Fonts	(Internet	Keyboard	Mail and Fax	
X Modems	Mouse	Multimedia	Network	Passwords	
Printers	Regional Settings	Sounds	System		•
19 object(s)					

b. Select the Network Icon. The Network screen appears.

Network	? X
Configuration Identification Access Control The following <u>n</u> etwork components are installed:	
 Client for Microsoft Networks Client for NetWare Networks Client for NetWare Networks 3Com EtherLink III ISA (3C509/3C509b) in ISA mode IPX/SPX-compatible Protocol NetBEUI 	
<u>Add</u> <u>R</u> emove <u>P</u> roperties	

c. Select the TCP/IP. The TCP/IP Properties screen appears.

CP/IP Propertie	S		? ×
Bindings	Advanced	DI	NS Configuration
Gateway	WINS Configura	tion	IP Address
An IP address o	an be automaticallu a	esianed	to this computer

d. Select the IP Address page tab.

An IP address can be automatically assigned to this computer. If your network does not automatically assign IP addresses, ask your network administrator for an address, and then type it in the space below.
C Obtain an IP address automatically
• Specify an IP address:
IP Address: 10 . 10 . 13 . 155
Subnet Mask: 255.255.255.0

- e. Select the **Specify an IP address** radio button.
- f. Enter IP address. The IP address must be unique to the specific node and no other processors or PC's can have the same address.

IP ADDRESS: 10.10.13.155

g. Enter Subnet Mask. This number must be entered as detailed below.

SUBNET MASK: 255.255.255.0

4. Load Configurations into Individual Processors. See *"Saving, loading and transferring configurations"* on page 71 for details in loading configurations from disk. If Network Settings have been modified, reset processor by selecting the [Reset] button on the control module.



Note: If a processor's network address is outside the default range (10.10.20.1 - 10.10.20.64), a floppy disk with a configuration containing the processor's network address setting must be loaded into that processor. The processor's address must be set using the [Processor Address] command. From then on, the configuration may be transferred over the network.

Writing Network Configurations

Other than a few exceptions, writing a network configuration is really no different than writing a non-network configuration. For information on writing a configuration see *"Configuring a system"* on page 16.

When writing a network configuration, these are the main items to take into consideration as you plan your system.

- ▼ Read "Chapter 5 Understanding Network Systems" on page 89 before entering or changing network settings.
- ▼ Plan room control
- ▼ Plan starting DMX512 addresses of each room
- ▼ Consider the path that DMX512 will take through nodes and processors
- Become familiar with how Unison tracks and displays input and output levels through icons
- Setting and recording zone levels

Changing system properties

- 1. In the **File/Network Setting**s dialog, enter the appropriate parameters for each processor that will be used by this configuration.
- 2. In each room, open **Room Properties** and select which processor(s) will be in control.

Name Foyer 🗾
<mark>™ M</mark> imic LCD page changes
Which processor is this room controlled by?
CAutomatic based on DMX-out port usage
© Manual
Foyer
East Wing West Wing
OK Cancel

3. For every zone in your configuration, you must determine what its DMX Input Mode will be.

Zone / Dimmer Load Properties	
Zone	
<u>N</u> ame	Zone 1
DMX Input Mode	Replace
	Snapshot ined
Dimmers	Pile-on Pass Through
N <u>u</u> mbers	Master Replace If On
Inpu <u>t</u> Patch	Pass Through If On Pass Through If Active
Ma <u>x</u> imum Level	100
M <u>i</u> nimum Level	0 🗖 Use 0 for <u>O</u> ff
<u>M</u> ax. Fade Rate	<none> Except for Preset <u>f</u>ades</none>
Load	
N <u>a</u> me	
	l <u>c</u> on Standard
< <u>Previous</u>	N <u>e</u> xt > OK Cancel

- ▼ Replace Unison overrides DMX512 input levels, records and outputs active Unison levels.
- ✓ Snapshot Unison records incoming DMX512 levels. Dimmers must be patched 1-to-1. Used for UPSAC systems only.
- ▼ Pile-On Unison and DMX512 console signals combine, highest level takes precedence.
- ▼ Pass-thru DMX512 or EDMX input level passes through Unison system.
- ▼ Master Unison levels "master" DMX512 passing through the Unison system. (e.g., A Unison fader could be used to fade up and down a chase being run on a console.)
- ▼ Replace if on DMX512 input levels are output if Unison levels are at 0.
- ▼ Pass through if on Unison levels are output and recorded unless DMX or EDMX levels are above 0%.
- Pass through if active Unison levels are output and recorded unless a DMX or EDMX console is plugged in and turned on.



Note: Zones default to the DMX Input Mode of Replace. A macro can be written to quickly change all of the zones to a mode of Pile-On.

- 4. Also in the **Zone/Dimmer Load Properties** dialog, you need to set the zone's dimmer number(s) and Input Patch.
 - ▼ Dimmer numbers

Enter DMX512 or EDMX output patch dimmer numbers to be controlled together.

List dimmer numbers individually, separated with a space or comma, or list dimmer number ranges, separated with a dash.

- ▼ Enter the Input Patch
- ▼ DMX dimmer number.

The Input Patch will redirect the dimmer to the Output Patch dimmer number (above). If no Input Patch number is given, the Output Patch is used.

Example: There are several dimmer racks throughout the building that all have a "dimmer 1" in them. In this case, the input patch would be "dimmer 1", but the output patch may be EDMX value 2000. Since there can only be one sender of information (dimmer 1), redirection to EDMX 2000 eliminates the chance of multiple "dimmer 1" senders of trying to all send out information to a specific zone.



Note: Although the output patch can have multiple dimmers, the input patch is just one dimmer number.

Transferring configurations

As you change of your configuration, you must update the processor(s) in one of the following ways. For more information, see *"Saving, loading and transferring configurations"* on page 71.

▼ File | Save for Processor...

This allows you to select a processor to write a configuration file for. The file may then be loaded into the processor via a floppy disk.

▼ File | Save to Networked Unison Processor...

Allows you to select a processor to have the configuration sent to.

▼ File | Save to Online Networked Unison processors

Sends configuration updates to all online processors, one at a time.

Note: If a processor's network address is outside the default range (10.10.20.1 - 10.10.20.64), a floppy disk with a configuration containing the processor's network address setting must be loaded into that processor. The processor's address must be set using the [Processor Address] command. From then on, the configuration may be transferred over the network.

Save to Serial Unison processor

Sends configuration data through a PC interface station to the local processor in which that PC interface is connected.

Working with Networked Configurations

Once you have your system configured, saved and downloaded to the processors you will notice that the zone icons change to indicate whether or not you are in Live Control.



The zone level is not being controlled in Live Control



The zone level is being controlled in Live Control.

Setting and recording zone levels in Live Control

To set and record levels in Live Control you must have the "master" Online indicator selected. You will notice that each room in your configuration also has its own online button that turns green when the "master" indicator is selected. This indicates that at least one of the processors that controls that room is online.



Adjusting levels online is helpful when you want to see what affect your changes will have. In a networked system, even though you are in live control, you may not be able to see your changes. This depends in what the source of control is coming into the zone (e.g., DMX512 or EDMX).

If the zone icon does not have a small Unison logo in it, you will not see your changes as you make them. You may still make changes and record a new preset, but you will not be able to view this new preset until Unison has regained control of those zones. For help with network zone icons, see *"Working with Networked Configurations"* on page 103.

Setting and recording zone levels in Non-Live Control

Non-live control of zones stays the same regardless of whether your system is networked or not. You can still set and record levels in one of the following ways. See *"To record a preset"* on page 31 for more information.

- Adjusting individual levels and recording to a system wide preset
- Using the stations within Light Manager to set and record individual section presets.

Chapter 6 Glossary

Activate - Initiates fade of preset or starts macro sequence.

Astronomical Time Clock - Time clock that activates events (presets or macros) based on sunrise and sunset.

Background Image - A 256x128 black and white monochromatic Windows bitmap (.bmp) file created for use in the LCD.

Cancel - Deactivates a selection.

CEM - The Control Electronics Module used in SR series racks.

CME(d) - The dimming and extended architectural control module used in Unison dimming racks.

CMEi - The extended architectural control module with Networking functions.

Combining through selected walls - Function that allows programming of "wall logic" in a room with moving partitions or walls.

Configuration Wizard - A series of questions and dialog boxes regarding the space you would like to configure.

Connector - Device that adjoins peripheral equipment to control network.

Control Page - Tabbed pages on an LCD.

CPU - Central Processing Unit.

Custom Control Page - Non-standard control page on an LCD.

Default - The factory set configuration.

Direct - Refers to input from maintained dry contact closure.

DMX - Acronym for Digital Multiplex, a communication standard developed for theatrical lighting.

DMX Routing Mode - Process of routing DMX input into the CEM or Unison processor.

EDMX - DMX distributed over Ethernet.

Enable off toggle - Activates the alternate action of preset select switches and off.

Events - Presets and/or macros, either manually or automatically activated.

Fade time - Programmed interval of time from the activation to the completion of an event.

Fader - A graphic or mechanical slide potentiometer which is used to vary individual or multiple zone lighting levels. Usually calibrated on a 0-100 scale.

Icon - Graphic element of Light Manager software.

Last action - A preset activation mode that activates a preset and cancels previous presets except Pile-on types.

Last action override - A preset activation mode that activates a preset and cancels previous presets including Pile-on types.

LCD - A Unison touchscreen control station using liquid crystal display technology.

LED - Light emitting diode used to indicate button and fader status.

Link when sections combined - A Zone property. When selected, joins control of like zones of adjacent sections when the partition separating them is opened.

Lockout - Programmable electronic security for buttons, faders and LCD pages.

Lockout direct - Electronic security controlled by an input from a maintained dry contact closure.

Lower - Control function that incrementally reduces light output.

Macro - A recorded sequence of events. Macros may be activated manually or via the astronomical time clock.

Manual - Individual zone control of lighting through slide or graphic faders.

Master fader - A slide fader assigned to proportionately control area lighting zones.

Maximum level - Zone property that allows you to program the highest level that the controls may drive a zone.

Mimic - Station property which allows changes in the programming of one station to take affect in others.

Minimum level - Zone property which allows programming of the lowest level that the controls may drive a zone. Often used for programming low light levels for limited range light sources,

Page Lockout - Electronic security for LCD pages.

PCMCIA Card - An SRAM data card used for storing and transferring configuration and bitmap images. Used for SR Series systems with an integrated UP-SAC processor.

Pile-On - Preset activation mode where multiple presets can be activated. Zone levels are set by the highest level of active presets.

Preset - A recorded set of lighting zone intensities, including a programmed fade time.

Preset recall - Activates the selected preset in a last action manner.

Preset toggle - Activates the selected preset in a pile-on manner.
Properties - Specific parameters associated with rooms, stations, presets, zones, sections and walls.

Raise - Control function that incrementally increases light output.

Record - Control function that saves zone, sequence or time clock information.

Room - Area of control.

Room combine - Control function designed for joining and separating the lighting controls of adjacent sections based on the position of moving walls.

Room list - Display window detailing all rooms of a single configuration.

Section - Divided area of a room separated by moving partitions.

Source or Zone Source - Used in a networked configuration to keep track of which "object" is controlling or outputting levels. (e.g., Unison, DMX or EDMX)

Station - User control device.

Station ID - A 12-digit identification number that is unique for each station.

Template - Station properties that refer to a specific set of programmed component functions.

Toggle - Alternate action of two functions.

Visibility level - Programmable electronic security LCD pages.

Wait for fade - Function that delays progression of a macro until the previous fade is completed.

Wall - Partition used for dividing a large area or room.

Zone - Control channel.

Index

Α

Access, 11, 88 Access-Full, 88 Access-LCD, 84 Access-Reduced, 88 Activate, 105 Add Standard Page, 36 All zones off, 83 Astronomical Time Clock 63–67, 105 Create a custom day, 64–65 Periodic events, 68 Record an event, 66 Sunrise event, 66 Sunset events, 67 Time of day events, 67

В

Background Image, 11, 38, 44, 105

С

Call Macro, 60 CEM, 105 CME(d), 71, 105 CMEi, 89, 91, 97, 105 Combine Sections, 23, 54 Combine through selected wall, 54, 105 Combine Type, 49 Combine Walls screen. 49 Configuration Wizard, 105 Configurations Beginning, 16 Description, 14 Icons Preset Icon, 14 Room Icon, 14 Section Icon, 14 Station Icon 14 Wall Icon, 14 Zone Icon, 14 Connector, 105 Control stations Connector stations PC Interface 45 Portable 45 Fader and Preset Recall, 26, 75 Fader/Switch contact satellite stations, 47 IR transmitter stations. 48 Programming 26 Button assignments, 26 Fader assignments, 29 CPU, 105

Custom Day, 64 Custom Page, 39

D

Date, 41, 82 Day, 41 Deactivate, 57, 69 Delete, 41, 42 DMX Input Macros, 87 DMX Input Patch, 23, 102 DMX512 16, 105 DMX output patch, 23 DMX start address 16 Input modes Master, 22, 59 Pass through if active, 22, 59 Pass through if on, 22, 59 Pass-thru, 22, 59 Pile-On, 22, 59 Replace if on, 22, 59 Replace, 22, 59 Snapshot, 22, 59 Routing, 22 DMX-in Local Priority, 96 DMX-in Start, 96 DMX-Out, 18, 96

Е

Edit Macro, 55, 61 Edit Timed Events, 64, 65 EDMX Data IP, 95 EDMX Input Patch, 22, 101 EDMX Output Patch, 23, 102 EDMX, 22, 83, 89, 91, 93, 95-96, 101-102, 104-105 Enable ETCLink, 94 Enable Off Toggle, 17, 19, 26, 27, 105 Enabled, 92, 94 ER4 Processor, 91 ETCLink, 97 Ethernet, 72, 89, 91 Except for Presets, 23 Exclude from Preset 15

F

Fade time, *20, 29, 57, 70, 105* Flicker, *20, 21* Format Disk, *82* Full Access, *88*

G

Graphic Indicator, 39

Н

Hold down button, 28 Host all controls, 28, 30, 81 Host this control, 28, 30, 81

I

Icon, 106 lcons Light bulb, 23 Presets, 14 Sconce, 23 See Configurations Stations, 14 Zones 15 Zones, 103 Include in EDMX, 96 Include in Preset 15 Indicator, 104 Information Configuration, 82 Job information 11, 88 Initialize flash, 83 IP Address, 92-93, 95, 97, 99 IP Gateway (Set All), 95 IP Gateway, 95 IP Mask (Set All), 95 IP Mask, 95 IR transmitter stations, 48

К

Keypad LCD *84* Numerical, *31* Security, *38, 43* Unison Processor, *11, 71*

L

Label, 41 Last Action Override, 57, 69, 106 Last Action, 57, 69, 106 LCD Access, 84 Add Standard Page, 36 Background Image, 38 Custom control pages, 37 Custom Page, 39-42 Edit Page, 43 Menu Page, 35, 82 Page Properties, 43 Page Timeout, 38 Preset page, 34 Screen Features, 44 Set as Timeout Page, 38 Standard control pages, 33 Templates, 84-86 Timeout page 44 Walls page, 35 Zones Page, 33, 39 LCD stations, 32 Legend, 28, 30, 41, 42 Light Manager

Computer requirements 5 Display 9 Install software 7 Programming, 9 Saving configurations, 71 Securing configurations, 88 Transferring configurations, 72 Using Stations, 31 Link Code, 77 Link Power, 47 Link When sections combined, 23, 106 Live Control 11-12, 103, 104 Indicator, 12, 13, 104 Load See also Serial Load from Serial Unison Processor 12 Load from Serial Unison Processor, 72 Load Net Backup, 82 Location, 82 Lockout Direct, 27, 106 Lockout Level, 19, 28, 30, 38, 42, 75 Lockout Toggle, 27, 41 Lockout Value, 19, 38, 43, 75, 84 Lockout, 19, 27, 28, 38, 41-44, 58, 75, 84, 106 Lower, 27, 41, 106

Μ

MAC Address. 97 Macro 28, 41, 55-62, 70, 106 Call, 60 DMX Input, 87 Edit, 61 New Macro, 55, 56 Number of iterations, 60 Run, 83 Stop, 83 Wait, 60 Macro Direct, 28, 41 Macro Toggle, 28, 41 Manual Processor control 18 Manual, 27, 29, 75, 92, 106 Master Fader, 75, 106 Master indicator, 104 Master, 22, 29, 59, 77, 80, 101, 106 Maximum dimmer level, 29 Maximum fade rate, 23, 28, 41 Maximum light level, 23, 59, 106 Menus File Menu 10, 11 LCD, 35, 82

Pull down *9, 10* Windows Start Menu, *98* Merge *11* Mimic LCD, *18* Mimic multicast IP address, *93* Mimic, *106* Minimum dimmer level, *29* Minimum light level, *23, 59, 106* Movable Partitions See Walls Multicast Addresses, *93* Multiple instances allowed, *59* Multiple, *92*

Ν

Network, 11, 103 Networking, 89–101 New 11 New configuration, 16 New Macro, 55, 56 New Preset, 13 New Section, 13, 52 New Station, 13, 47 New Wall, 13, 53 New Zones, 13 No Action, 28, 30, 41 Node status multicast IP address, 93 Number of Iterations, 60

0

Off, 19, 27, 40 OMM CID, 97 OMM Visibility, 97 Open, 11, 12, 57

Ρ

Pass through if active, 22, 59, 101 Pass through if on, 22, 59, 101 Pass-thru, 22, 59, 101 PC Interface Station, 45-46, 72 PCMCIA Card, 83, 106 Periodic Events. 68 Pile-On, 22, 57, 59, 69, 101, 106 Pointer. 13 Portable station connector, 45 Portable stations, 19, 45 Preset priorities, 76 Preset Recall (hard off), 27, 40 Preset Recall station, 75 Preset Recall, 26, 40, 69, 75, 106 Preset Toggle, 27, 40, 106 Preset, 29, 31, 82, 106 Presets Description, 15 Except for Presets, 23

Icon, 14, 15 New Preset, 13 Properties, 17, 20 Recall, 56 Recording, 13, 31 System wide, 18 Printing Configurations, 73 Processor 18, 71-72, 82, 91, 94-97, 99-100, 103 Manual, 18 Multiple, 18 Network addresses, 93 Programming Basic 9 Properties 107 Fader, 42 LCD Page, 34, 43 Presets. 17, 20 Room, 100 Rooms, 17, 18, 20 Sections, 17, 24 Stations, 17, 19 TCP/IP, *98* Walls, 17, 25 Zones, 17, 22, 77

R

Raise, 27, 41, 107 Receive Disk file 11 See also Serial Record 107 Record a Preset, 31 Record, 13, 27, 29, 31, 41, 66, 75, 104, 107 Reduced Access, 88 Replace if on, 22, 59, 101 Replace, 22, 59, 101 Rooms Description, 14 Icon 14 Modify divisible room, 52 Modifying properties, 18 Properties, 17 Pull down menu, 18 Room Wizard, 16 Run Macro, 83

S

Satellite boards, 47 Save Save as, 11 Save for processor 11 Save for Processor, 103 Save to networked Unison processor 11 Save to Networked Unison Processor, 72, 103 Save to Online Networked Unison

processor 11 Save to Online Networked Unison Processor, 72 Save to Online Networked Unison Processors, 103 Save to Serial Unison Processor 11. 12 Save to Serial Unison Processor, 72, 103 Save, 11, 12 Sections Description, 14 Icon, 14 New Sections, 13 Properties, 17, 24 Securing configurations, 88 Selection Bump Direct, 28, 41 Selection Bump Toggle w/clear, 28, 41 Selection Bump Toggle, 28, 41 Send Disk file 11 See also Serial Send object model, 83 Serial Load from Unison Processor 11, 12 PC Interface station 11 Receive disk file 11 Save to Unison Processor 11, 12 Send disk file 11 Set as Timeout Page, 38 Set Zone Property, 58 Setup Setup Serial PC Interface 11 Setup Serial PC Interface, 46 Shortcut Buttons, 9, 12 Show Time and Date, 34 Sliders, 21, 31 Snapshot, 22, 59, 101 Station ID, 107 Stations Description, 14

Icon, 14 IDs, 19 New Stations, 13 Properties, 17, 19, 58 Status bar, 14, 15 Status Indicator, 94 Stop Macro 83 Stop Macro, 60 Sunrise Events, 66 Sunset Events, 67 System files Config.sys file 7, 46 System wide Preset, 18

Т

Templates Activating, 79 Adding new 78 Templates, 19, 58, 78, 84, 107 Time of day Events, 67 Time, 41, 82 Timeout, 44 Timeout. 38 Toggle, 57, 107 Toolbar Functions, 13

U

Unison Serial Access Protocol Baud Rate (USAP), *93* Unlock Code, *38, 43*

V

visibility level, 42 Visibility value, 38, 43 Visibility, 38, 41, 42, 43, 75, 107 Visibility-OMM, 97 Visibility level, 107 Visibility levels, 75

W

Wait, 60

Wall Close, 41 Wall Closed. 27 Wall Direct, 27 Wall Logic, 54, 105 Wall Open, 27, 41 Wall Toggle, 27, 41 Walls Description, 15 New Walls, 13, 49 Properties, 17, 25 Wizard Combine Walls screen, 49 Divisible Rooms, 49 New Configuration, 16 See also Configuration, Beginning. Wall Station screen, 49 Wall Stations screen, 50 Welcome screen 7 Zones screen, 91 Zones screen. 51

Х

X/Y Control, 39

Z

Zone Narrow, 39 Properties, 58 Zone Bump Direct, 28, 41 Zone Bump Toggle, 41 Zone Bump, 28 Zone Group Toggle, 28, 41 Zone Select Direct Shows Level, 19, 29, 59 Zone Select Direct, 28 Zone Select Toggle, 28, 41 Zone Source, 107 Zones Description, 15 Icon, 14, 15 New Zones, 13, 16 Properties, 17, 22 Zones, 29, 39





 Americas
 • 3030 Laura Lane
 Middleton, WI 53562
 • Tel: (+1) 608.831.4116
 • Fax: (+1) 608.836.1736
 • Toll free: 800.688.4116
 • Toll free fax: 800.555.8912

 Europe
 • 5 Victoria Industrial Estate, Victoria Road, London W3 6UU
 • Tel: +44 (0)20 8896 1000
 • Fax: +44 (0)20 8896 2000

 Asia
 • Room 605-606, Tower III Enterprise Square
 • 9 Sheung Yuet Road, Kowloon Bay
 • Kowloon, Hong Kong
 • Tel: (+852) 2799 1220
 • Fax: (+852) 2799 9325

 International
 • 3030 Laura Lane
 Middleton, WI 53562
 • Tel: (+1) 608.831.4116
 • Fax: (+1) 608.836.1736
 • Toll free: 800.688.4116
 • Toll free fax: 800.555.8912

 Web:
 www.etcconnect.com
 • Email: mail@etcconnect.com

Copyright © 2000 Electronic Theatre Controls, Inc., All Rights Reserved. All product information and specifications subject to change. 7081M1012 Printed in USA 04/00